### Synthesis of Complex Carbohydrates and Glycoconjugates: Enzyme-Based and Programmable One-Pot Strategies

Kathryn M. Koeller and Chi-Huey Wong\*

Department of Chemistry, The Scripps Research Institute and Skaggs Institute for Chemical Biology, 10550 North Torrey Pines Road, La Jolla, California 92037

Received February 21, 2000

#### Contents

I.	Introduction	
	A. The Biological Significance of Glycoconjugates	4465
	B. Hurdles in Obtaining Complex Glycoconjugates for Study	4465
	C. Tools for the Simplification of Glycoconjugate Synthesis	4466
II.	Enzyme-Based Glycoconjugate Synthesis	4468
	A. Glycosyltransferases	4468
	B. exo-Glycosidases	4468
	C. endo-Glycosidases	4469
	D. Other Enzymes	4469
III.	Enzymes that Form Glycosidic Linkages	4470
	A. Transfer of Monosaccharides	4470
	1. Galactose	4470
	2. Sialic Acid	4472
	3. Fucose	4473
	4. Mannose	4474
	5. N-Acetylhexosamines	4474
	6. Glucose	4475
	B. Transfer of Oligosaccharides	4476
	1. endo-Glycosidases	4476
	2. Polymerizing Enzymes	4477
IV.	Enzymes that Do Not Form Glycosidic Linkages	4477
	A. Sulfotransferases	4477
	B. Proteases	4478
	C. Lipases	4478
	D. Aldolases	4478
	E. Other Enzymes	4479
V.	Use of Multiple Enzymes for Complex Glycoconjugate Synthesis	4480
	A. Sequential Transfer	4480
	1. Multiple Glycosyltransferases	4480
	2. Glycosyltransferases in Combination with Glycosidases	4482
	<ol> <li>Glycosyltransferases in Combination with Other Enzymes</li> </ol>	4482
	4. Multiple Glycosidases	4483
	B. One-Pot Multienzyme Synthesis	4483
VI.	One-Pot Programmable Oligosaccharide Synthesis	4484
	A. One-Pot Synthetic Techniques	4484
	B. Quantitation of Glycosyl Donor Reactivity	4486
	C. One-Pot Programmable Synthesis	4486

VII.	Future Directions	4487
VIII.	References	4489

#### I. Introduction

#### A. The Biological Significance of Glycoconjugates

Identifying the functional roles of carbohydrates in biological systems has been an area of intense study in recent years. Although carbohydrates were once viewed only as inert molecules protecting the cellsurface, this diverse class of biomolecules is now recognized as playing a significant role in numerous physiological responses (Scheme 1). For example, cellsurface glycoproteins and glycolipids can serve as protein ligands, thereby providing an anchor for intercellular adhesion or a receptor for viral invasion. Alternatively, cell-surface glycans may mask a receptor site, functioning as a "decoy" to evade such recognition events. Carbohydrates are frequently a required component of antibiotic agents that bind to either protein or RNA target structures, and such glycoconjugates therefore have medicinal potential. Furthermore, altered cell-surface glycosylation patterns are diagnostic in certain cancers, and even a mechanism of glycosylation-based signal transduction has been proposed. The functional diversity of glycoconjugates in biosystems is well documented, and several thorough reviews on the subject have appeared in the literature.<sup>1</sup>

## B. Hurdles in Obtaining Complex Glycoconjugates for Study

Although the study of carbohydrates and glycoconjugates is an important research area, access to these molecules has been difficult. This stems largely from the fact that no automated system for the synthesis of oligosaccharides exists, as it does for proteins and nucleic acids (Table 1). The central paradigm invoked in biosystems (DNA to RNA to protein) that allows template-driven synthesis and rational biomolecule manipulation unfortunately does not apply to glycoconjugates. Glycan synthesis is not template-driven, but rather occurs post-translationally. Glycan structure can therefore be influenced by a number of factors, including competition of enzymes for the same substrate, enzyme substrate specificity, and



Kathryn M. Koeller received her Bachelor's of Science degree in Chemistry from the University of Wisconsin—Madison in 1996. During her time at UW, she pursued undergraduate research with Professor Laura L. Kiessling. She then enrolled in the Graduate Program in Chemistry at the Scripps Research Institute in La Jolla, CA. Since 1996, she has been a graduate student in Professor Chi-Huey Wong's laboratory. Her doctoral studies have focused on utilizing chemical and enzymatic methods for the synthesis of complex oligosaccharides, glycopeptides, and aminoglycoside antibiotic analogs. She was the recipient of an ACS Organic Division Graduate Fellowship and the Roche Award for Excellence in Organic Chemistry. Her research interests in general involve using synthesis as a tool in the study of biological phenomena.



Professor Wong received his B. S. and M. S. degrees from National Taiwan University and his Ph.D. degree in Chemistry with George M. Whitesides from MIT in 1982. He then moved along with Professor Whitesides to Harvard University as a postdoctoral fellow for another year. He taught at Texas A&M University for six years, and since 1989, he has been Professor and Ernest W. Hahn Chair in Chemistry at The Scripps Research Institute. He has also been Professor in the Skaggs Institute for Chemical Biology at Scripps since 1996. He was Head of the Frontier Research Program on Glycotechnology at RIKEN (Institute of Physical and Chemical Research) in Japan from 1991 to 1999. Professor Wong is the recipient of the Roy Whistler Award of the International Carbohydrate Organization in 1994, the American Chemical Society Harrison Howe Award in Chemistry in 1998, the Claude S. Hudson Award in Carbohydrate Chemistry in 1999, the 1999 International Enzyme Engineering Award, and a 2000 Presidential Green Chemistry Award. He was elected member of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences in 1996. He serves as Board Member of National Research Council on Chemical Sciences and Technology, as Editor-in-Chief of Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry and as Executive Board member of Tetrahedron publications. His current interests are in the areas of bioorganic and synthetic chemistry and biocatalysis, with specific focus on the development of new synthetic chemistry based on enzymatic and chemoenzymatic reactions, the study of carbohydrate-mediated biological recognition, and the development of mechanism-based inhibitors of enzymes and carbohydrate receptors. He is the author and coauthor of over 400 publications, 60 patents, and 3 books.

In the biological front, research into carbohydrate structure and function has focused mainly on the characterization of glycan chains isolated from glycoproteins. New glycan sequencing methods have greatly reduced the analytical time commitment in recent years, but these techniques produce only minute quantities of material for further study.<sup>1b</sup> This drawback has attracted the interest of the chemical community, and much effort has been invested in the synthesis of carbohydrate constructs by chemical means. Nonetheless, decades of synthetic research have not yielded robust methods of automated carbohydrate synthesis that are analogous to those available for proteins and nucleic acids. The explanation for this roadblock lies within the intrinsic structures of carbohydrates themselves. For example, the synthesis of an oligopeptide involves the iterative formation of a peptide bond between a single activated carboxylic acid and a free amine. However, in oligosaccharide synthesis, several hydroxyl groups of similar reactivity must be suitably differentiated in order to obtain the desired product with the appropriate regio- and stereoselectivity. Consequently, chemical carbohydrate synthesis often requires laborious protecting group manipulations and long synthetic routes. As could be anticipated, tedious chemical synthesis is not an attractive option to the scientific community as a whole.

## C. Tools for the Simplification of Glycoconjugate Synthesis

Efforts to simplify the synthesis of carbohydrates have been of current interest. Toward this goal, enzymes provide an alternative that chemists and biologists alike consider synthetically viable. Glycosyltransferases and glycosidases have become valuable catalysts for constructing stereo- and regiospecific glycosidic linkages in oligosaccharide structures. Enzymes such as proteases and aldolases have found applications in the synthesis of complex glycoconjugates as well. Alternatively, in the chemical arena, quantitation of the chemical reactivity of specific glycosyl donors has resulted in programmable onepot syntheses that have great potential toward the development of automated oligosaccharide assembly. Both enzymatic and programmable one-pot techniques provide complex carbohydrates without lengthy protection/deprotection strategies and decrease the synthetic time commitment.

At the present time, complex carbohydrate and glycoconjugate synthesis remains much more complicated than that of other biomolecules. However, enzyme-based and one-pot methods have greatly simplified synthetic strategies. This review first describes recent accomplishments in the area of enzyme-based and chemoenzymatic synthesis of complex carbohydrates, glycopeptides, glycoproteins, and glycolipids. In this respect, it does not attempt to





describe every enzyme involved in glycoconjugate biosynthesis, but instead highlights applications of enzymes that have proven useful in preparative-scale syntheses. The remaining section is devoted to onepot techniques for the chemical synthesis of oligosaccharides. Included in this discussion are studies and observations that had a direct impact on the development of programmable one-pot synthetic methods. Both enzymatic and chemical one-pot synthetic methods are emerging as tools that will aid the advance-

 Table 1. General Methods Employed to Obtain

 Biomolecules

biomolecule	primary methods
proteins	<i>automated</i> peptide synthesis, native peptide ligation, overexpression systems, protease-catalyzed bond formation
nucleic acids	<b>automated</b> nucleic acid synthesis, polymerase chain reaction
carbohydrates	isolation from glycoproteins, chemical synthesis, enzymatic synthesis

ment of glycoscience through simplification of complex glycoconjugate synthesis.

#### II. Enzyme-Based Glycoconjugate Synthesis

Enzymes have been used in the synthesis of complex glycoconjugates. Glycosyltransferases, exoglycosidases, and endo-glycosidases are valuable catalysts for the formation of specific glycosidic linkages. Moreover, enzymes such as sulfotransferases, proteases, lipases, and aldolases can be exploited for the synthesis of other distinct structures which are critical to glycoconjugate function. Discussed below are features of the various enzyme classes that have been utilized in the assembly of oligosaccharides and glycoconjugates.

#### A. Glycosyltransferases

Glycosyltransferases of the Leloir pathway are responsible for the synthesis of most cell-surface glycoforms in mammalian systems.<sup>3</sup> These enzymes transfer a given carbohydrate from the corresponding sugar nucleotide donor substrate to a specific hydroxyl group of the acceptor sugar. A large number of eukaryotic glycosyltransferases have been cloned to date<sup>1c</sup> and, in general, exhibit exquisite linkage and substrate specificity. It is remarkable that such a considerable number of mammalian enzymes have converged on only eight general sugar nucleotides as glycosyl donor substrates. Glucosyl- and galactosyltransferases employ substrates activated with uridine diphosphate as the anomeric leaving group ( $\alpha$ -UDP-Glc,  $\alpha$ -UDP-GlcNAc,  $\alpha$ -UDP-GlcUA,  $\alpha$ -UDP-Gal, α-UDP-GalNAc), whereas fucosyl- and mannosyltransferases utilize guanosine diphosphate ( $\beta$ -GDP-Fuc,  $\alpha$ -GDP-Man). Sialyltransferases are unique in that the glycosyl donor is activated by cytidine monophosphate ( $\beta$ -CMP-NeuAc). Preparative-scale syntheses of relevant sugar nucleotides have been developed previously, and most are now commercially available.<sup>4</sup> Non-Leloir glycosyltransferases, which utilize sugar phosphates as glycosyl donors, have been applied synthetically in a much more limited fashion and will not be covered further.

As Leloir glycosyltransferases are highly regio- and stereospecific with respect to glycosidic linkage formation and provide products in high yield, these enzymes are often the catalysts of choice for glycoconjugate synthesis. However, glycosyltransferasebased syntheses suffer from two major drawbacks. First of all, the nucleoside diphosphates generated during the reaction are potent glycosyltransferase inhibitors. Furthermore, sugar nucleotide expense can become a burden if large-scale synthesis is required. The feedback inhibition problem can be solved by the addition of a phosphatase into the reaction, which results in breakdown of the NDP product (Scheme 2).<sup>5</sup> However, to circumvent sugar

#### Scheme 2. General Protocols for Glycosyltransferase-Based Synthesis

A. Addition of phosphatase



B. Recycling of sugar nucleotides



nucleotide expense and avoid product inhibition simultaneously, multienzyme recycling systems have been developed.<sup>6</sup> In this case, NDP-sugars are required in only catalytic quantities, as they are generated in situ from inexpensive starting materials. Moreover, the NDPs are recycled to NDP-sugars, thereby avoiding product inhibition.

Glycosyltransferase availability is occasionally considered a third drawback. Although many glycosyltransferases can now be purchased from commercial sources (Table 2), an enzyme specific for every desired glycosidic linkage cannot be obtained at the present time. In some instances, those that are not available commercially can be isolated from tissue sources.<sup>7</sup> The use of glycosyltransferases in carbohydrate synthesis has been reviewed previously.<sup>8</sup>

#### B. exo-Glycosidases

In vivo, exo-glycosidases are responsible for glycan processing reactions that take place during glycoprotein synthesis. The physiological function of these enzymes is the cleavage of glycosidic linkages. However, under controlled conditions, glycosidases can be used to synthesize glycosidic bonds rather than cleavage (Scheme 3). As such, they have been em-

#### **Scheme 3. General Protocols for Glycosidase-Based Synthesis**

A. Thermodynamic conditions (Reverse hydrolysis)





ployed as catalysts in oligosaccharide synthesis.<sup>8a-c,9</sup> In comparison with glycosyltransferases, glycosidases are inexpensive, stable, and readily available. These catalysts require only inexpensive donor substrates, as opposed to expensive nucleotide sugars. Although glycosidases are generally stereospecific, a primary disadvantage is weak regiospecificity, which may result in the formation of multiple products.

Two general protocols for glycosidase-based synthesis have been reported. When glycosidase-catalyzed reactions are performed under thermodynamic conditions (reverse hydrolysis), products are frequently isolated in low yield. However, improved yields can often be achieved under kinetic conditions (*trans*-glycosylation), usually employing an activated glycosyl donor, organic cosolvent, or donor excess, or using a transglycosidase that prefers transglycosidation to hydrolysis. In general, only simple glycosides can be prepared, and product yields are still greatly decreased when compared to those of glycosyltransferase-catalyzed reactions. In some cases, a glycosidase is available when the corresponding glycosyltransferase is not, thus providing an alternative enzymatic synthetic route.

#### C. endo-Glycosidases

endo-Glycosidases cleave internal glycosidic linkages in an oligosaccharide chain or glycoconjugate.

Calbiochem, Fluka, Sigma, Glyko, Worthington Calbiochem Calbiochem, Sigma Calbiochem Calbiochem Calbiochem	
endo-Glycosidases, like the exo-glycosidases de scribed above, can also catalyze <i>trans</i> -glycosylatio	e-

reactions under appropriate conditions.10 The enzymes endo-A, endo-M, and endo-F are endo-glycosidases that cleave the bond between the GlcNAc units of the chitobiose disaccharide at the reducing terminus of N-linked glycans (Scheme 4). These endo-

#### Scheme 4. Typical N-Linked Glycan endo-Glycosidase trans-Glycosylation Reaction



glycosidases require an Asn-linked glycan donor for trans-glycosylation and have been employed in the construction of complex glycopeptides and glycoproteins of defined structure in a single transformation. This methodology is currently the most accessible technique to obtain homogeneous glycoproteins, albeit in a relatively low yield. Another endo-glycosidase, ceramide glycanase, has facilitated the synthesis of complex glycolipids.

#### **D.** Other Enzymes

Synthetic strategies toward complex glycoconjugates are concerned with linkages other than the glycosidic bond. Glycan modifications, such as the sulfation present on the GlyCAM-1 carbohydrate or the acylation of ganglioside 9-O-acetyl-GD<sub>3</sub>, have also been investigated by enzymatic methods. The use of proteases as catalysts in peptide-bond formation and lipases for the mild removal of protecting groups have been extremely beneficial in the area of glycopeptide synthesis. Aldolases have provided access to numerous unnatural carbohydrate derivatives. Furthermore, inteins are applicable to the synthesis of modified glycoproteins. In general, enzyme catalysts have become standard synthetic tools and are increasingly recognized by the chemical community as valuable additions to their arsenal of synthetic methods.

#### III. Enzymes that Form Glycosidic Linkages

Enzymes that catalyze the formation of glycosidic linkages have been utilized extensively in the construction of complex glycoconjugates. Biologically relevant target structures include the carbohydrate chains of glycoproteins and glycolipids involved in intercellular recognition processes, such as the inflammatory response and cancer cell metastasis. Glycans that have been implicated in viral cell adhesion and organ transplant rejection are also of interest. Much recent effort has focused on the generation of homogeneous glycoproteins. The following section outlines synthetic applications of enzymes that catalyze the formation of glycosidic bonds, and is categorized by the specific mono- or oligosaccharide transferred.

#### A. Transfer of Monosaccharides

#### 1. Galactose

a. Galactosyltransferases (GalT). Almost two decades ago, Wong and Whitesides published a landmark report of the first multienzyme system for the synthesis of N-acetyl-lactosamine (LacNAc) from simple starting materials (Scheme 5).<sup>11</sup> This protocol for the in situ regeneration of UDP-galactose solved the problems of  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT product inhibition and procuring expensive sugar nucleotide substrates. Synthesis of LacNAc was accomplished on a multigram scale, a "green" procedure which is now employed in the industrial-scale production of LacNAc. This classic paper also instigated the development of sugar nucleotide recycling systems for syntheses employing various glycosyltransferases. Subsequently, alternative regeneration schemes for UDP-Gal have also been reported,<sup>12</sup> including one in which sucrose synthetase is incorporated into the recycling scheme (Šcheme 6).<sup>12a</sup>

 $\beta$ 1,4-GalT is one of the most highly characterized and utilized glycosyltransferases for synthesis. Furthermore,  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT is the only glycosyltransferase for which a high-resolution X-ray crystal structure has been solved to date.<sup>13</sup>  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT has been used for the production of vast numbers of LacNAc analogues,<sup>14</sup> and its substrate specificity has been studied exhaustively.<sup>15</sup> The most unusual result with respect to substrate specificity was the report by Nishida et al. that  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT catalyzed the formation of a  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -1,1-linkage with certain GlcNAc or XylNAc analogues (Scheme 7).<sup>16</sup> These studies revealed a substantial directing effect of the NHAc group within the enzyme active site.  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT has been employed for the generation of LacNAc and LacNAc-glycopeptides in





solution<sup>17</sup> and on solid support.<sup>18</sup> Synthesis of mimics of the capsular polysaccharide of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* type 14 have also been undertaken.<sup>19</sup>

Other than LacNAc-based structures,  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT has been utilized for the differentiation between enantiomers of conduritol<sup>20</sup> and to append galactose to various alkaloids for improvement of bioavailability.<sup>21</sup> Transfer of galactose onto cyclodextrin (CD)<sup>22</sup> was performed, based on the premise that recognition of Gal-CD conjugates by galectins will enhance its drug delivery capabilities. Most often, however,  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT is employed in conjunction with other glycosyltransferases to provide extremely complex target structures, as will be discussed in later sections.

Although most galactosyltransferase literature focuses on  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT, the utility of other galactosyltransferases will emerge as their availability increases. The  $\beta$ 1,3-GalT responsible for synthesis of the  $\beta$ 1,3 branch of core 2 glycans has recently been studied with regard to substrate specificity,<sup>23</sup> as has  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT I which is implicated in poly(LacNAc) synthesis.<sup>24</sup> In an innovative synthetic approach, metabolically engineered bacterial cells were coupled for the production of globotriose (Scheme 8).<sup>25</sup> In this case, *E. coli* was engineered to express the UDP-Gal biosynthetic genes *galT* (Gal-1-P uridyltransferase), *galU* (Glc-1-P uridyltransferase), *galK* (galactokinase), and *ppa* (pyrophosphatase). In addition, *C.*  Scheme 6. Recycling of UDP–Gal Employing Sucrose Synthetase for the Synthesis of the  $\alpha$ -Gal Trisaccharide<sup>12h</sup>



Scheme 7. Formation of Unusual  $\beta$ , $\beta$ ,1,1-Linked Disaccharides with  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT<sup>16</sup>



ammonigenes was engineered to produce UTP from orotic acid. Coupling of these engineered cell lines to *E. coli* expressing *lgtC* ( $\alpha$ 1,4-GalT) from *N. gonorrhoeae* resulted in the large-scale synthesis of UDP-Gal and globotriose, without side products. Notably, the only additives to the system were the inexpensive substrates galactose, lactose, glucose, fructose, and orotic acid which served as starting materials. A second report citing  $\alpha$ 1,4-GalT involves the use of galactosyl fluoride as a substrate for the glycosyltransferase in the presence of only catalytic amounts of UDP.<sup>26</sup> If this approach can be scaled up and extended to other glycosyltransferases, it would generally obliterate the problem of sugar nucleotide expense.

As of late, the retaining galactosyltransferase  $\alpha$ 1,3-GalT has attracted much attention. This enzyme is

Scheme 8. Large-Scale Production of Globotriose Utilizing Metabolically Engineered Bacterial Cells<sup>25</sup>



responsible for the addition of the nonreducing terminal  $\alpha$ -galactose residue of oligosaccharides that cause hyperacute rejection following xenotransplantation.<sup>27</sup> Several studies of  $\alpha$ 1,3-GalT substrate specificity have been carried out.<sup>28</sup> Interestingly,  $\alpha$ 1,3-GalT is reportedly capable of galactosyl transfer to an unnatural hindered tertiary hydroxyl of the acceptor sugar (Scheme 9).<sup>29</sup> This hindered transfer of

Scheme 9.  $\alpha$ -Galactosyl Transfer to a Tertiary Hydroxyl Acceptor Site<sup>29</sup>



 $\alpha$ -galactose was also observed with  $\alpha$ 1,4-GalT and the human blood group A and B glycosyltransferases (GTA, GTB). The Wang group reported the expression of an  $\alpha$ 1,3-GalT/UDPGE (UDP-Gal 4-epimerase) fusion enzyme for the facile synthesis of  $\alpha$ -galactose linked sugars. With this construct, UDP-Gal can be generated in situ from the relatively inexpensive sugar nucleotide UDP-Glc.<sup>30</sup>

**b. Galactosidases.**  $\beta$ -Galactosidases have also been extensively studied. In parallel with  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT, this family of enzymes has also been employed in numerous syntheses of the LacNAc disaccharide and

its derivatives.<sup>31</sup> Notably, the tandem use of  $\beta$ -galactosidase from *B. circulans* and galactose oxidase provides LacNAc in nearly double the product yield usually observed in  $\beta$ -galactosidase-catalyzed synthesis (Scheme 10).<sup>32</sup> In this case, when 6-oxo-Gal-

## Scheme 10. Tandem Use of Galactose Oxidase and $\beta$ -galactosidase for the Synthesis of LacNAc Derivatives<sup>32</sup>



pNP is employed as the donor substrate, *trans*-glycosylation is kinetically favored over hydrolysis.

Since  $\beta$ -galactosidases exhibit different regiospecificity depending on the enzyme source, galactosidases from many different sources (E. coli, bovine testes, B. circulans, A. oryzae, P. multicolor, B. bifidum, B. singularis, S. solfataricus) are often examined for the formation of a desired linkage.<sup>33</sup> Many  $\beta$ -galactosidases accept galactose<sup>34</sup> or xylose<sup>35</sup> as the acceptor sugar, and Gal-Gal or Gal-Xyl disaccharides have also served as target structures. Transfer of galactose to peptide hydroxyl groups,<sup>36</sup> 1-deoxynojirimycin,<sup>37</sup> simple alcohols,<sup>38</sup> and hydroxycellulose<sup>39</sup> have also been reported.  $\beta$ -Galactosidase has also been utilized as a trimming agent<sup>40</sup> or for the construction of oligomaltose inhibitors of  $\alpha$ -amylase hydrolysis.<sup>41</sup> Notably, a lipid-coated  $\beta$ -galactosidase catalyzed glycosylation of long-chain alcohols and protected sugars in organic or biphasic solvent systems, and the reactions proceeded with no observable competing hydrolysis.<sup>42</sup>

The Wang group screened a thermophilic glycosidase library (CLONEZYME) to identify a catalyst that would transfer galactose in a  $\beta$ -linkage to glucosamine, since  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT failed to catalyze this transformation.<sup>43</sup> This disaccharide was further elaborated by use of the  $\alpha$ 1,3-GalT/UDPGE fusion enzyme to provide the  $\alpha$ -Gal trisaccharide.  $\alpha$ -Galactosidases from several sources (coffee bean, *A. niger, A. oryzae, P. multicolor*) have been studied with respect to substrate regiospecificity.<sup>44</sup> Galactosidases ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) have also been applied as catalysts in the glycosylation of amino acids<sup>45</sup> and cyclodextrin structures.<sup>46</sup>

#### 2. Sialic Acid

a. Sialyltransferases (SiaT). The most greatly utilized sialyltransferases for synthetic purposes are  $\alpha 2,3$ -SiaT and  $\alpha 2,6$ -SiaT,<sup>47</sup> although polysialyltransferases are beginning to find synthetic applications. Substrate specificity of  $\alpha 2,3$ -SiaT<sup>48</sup> and  $\alpha 2,6$ -SiaT<sup>49</sup> have been studied, in some cases with modified CMP-NeuAc donors.<sup>50</sup> A multienzyme recycling system for CMP-NeuAc<sup>51</sup> that functions with either  $\alpha 2,3$ -SiaT or  $\alpha 2,6$ -SiaT has been utilized for large-scale synthesis of the important cell-surface recognition elements 3'- and 6'-sialyl-lactosamine (3'- or 6'-SLN, Scheme 11).<sup>52</sup> The fusion enzyme CMP-NeuAc syn-

## Scheme 11. Recycling of CMP–NeuAc<sup>a</sup> for the Synthesis of 3'-SLN<sup>52</sup>



 $^a$   $E_1=\alpha 2,3\mbox{-SiaT},$   $E_2=$  nucleoside monophosphate kinase,  $E_3=$  pyruvate kinase,  $E_4=CMP-NeuAc$  synthetase,  $E_5=$  pyrophosphatase.

thetase/ $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT has recently been incorporated into this regeneration protocol.<sup>53</sup> This enzyme construct exhibited greater solubility than  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT alone and functioned efficiently at pH 7.5, even though the optimal pH values for  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT (pH 6.0) and CMP-NeuAc synthetase (pH 8.5) differ significantly. Furthermore, several strains of metabolically engineered bacteria have been employed in the large-scale production of CMP-NeuAc and sialylated oligosaccharides.<sup>52b</sup>

Sialyltransferases have been employed to append sialic acid to the terminal galactose residue in an oligosaccharide chain<sup>54</sup> or for the addition of sialic acid to glycolipids<sup>55</sup> or glycoproteins.<sup>56</sup> A mild method to immobilize glycoproteins through reaction of SiaT with solid-support bound CMP-NeuAc has recently been reported (Scheme 12).<sup>57</sup> Analogues of sialic acid, KdN and KDO,<sup>58</sup> are also of biological interest, and a bacterial  $\alpha$ 2,6-SiaT that is capable of KdN transfer has recently been utilized for the synthesis of KdN trisaccharides.<sup>59</sup>

Polysialyl structures are characteristic features of the capsular polysaccharides of invasive bacteria. The  $\alpha 2,8$ - and  $\alpha 2,8/2,9$ -polySiaT's have been characterized with respect to glycolipid substrate specificity,<sup>60</sup> and the resulting glycolipids may be applicable for the induction of CD<sub>1</sub>-mediated immune response.<sup>61</sup> Vac-

Scheme 12. Glycoprotein Immobilization through Reaction of  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT with Solid-Support Linked CMP–NeuAc<sup>57</sup>



cination against these structures may aid in eradication of pathogenic bacteria from the body through targeting of their carbohydrate coat.

**b. Sialidases.** Synthesis employing sialidases has not been as economical as that of other glycosidases. For example, reverse hydrolysis using free NeuAc as glycosyl donor with A. ureafaciens sialidase gave very low product yields.<sup>62</sup> Although kinetically controlled synthetic conditions with sialidase from V. cholerae resulted in higher yields, low regioselectivity was observed.63 More recently, Ajisaka et al. analyzed sialidases from various sources (C. perfringens, A. ureafaciens, V. cholerae) for synthetic purposes, examining NeuAc-pNP, NeuAc( $\alpha 2, 8$ )NeuAc, or colominic acid as the glycosyl donor.<sup>33</sup> In contrast to hydrolytic enzymes, trans-sialidases catalyze transglycosylation reactions in vivo and characteristically form very few hydrolysis products when employed synthetically in vitro. The combination of the transsialidase from *T. cruzi* with an  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT recycling system has been successfully applied to the synthesis of complex sialosides (Scheme 13).<sup>64</sup> N-Glycan specificity of this trans-sialidase has also been studied.65 In general, yields were elevated compared with exosialidases; however, the donor substrate in this case was also expensive.

#### 3. Fucose

a. Fucosyltransferases (FucT). The L-sugar fucose is an important recognition component of cellsurface glycans. Several human fucosyltransferase isozymes have been characterized, including at least seven  $\alpha$ 1,3-FucT's. Substrate specificity studies have been carried out on FucT III,<sup>66</sup> FucT VI,<sup>66a,b,67</sup> FucT Scheme 13. Combination of  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT and *trans*-Sialidase from *T. cruzi* for the One-Pot Synthesis of Novel Sialosides<sup>64</sup>



V,68 and the poly(LacNAc) specificity of FucT IV and FucT VII.<sup>69</sup> Fucosyltransferases have been utilized extensively for the preparation of Lewis x (Le<sup>x</sup>) and Lewis a ( $\tilde{Le}^a$ ) derivatives as well as their sialylated versions.<sup>70,71</sup> As L-fucose is equivalent to 6-deoxy-Lgalactose, it is not surprising that L-galactosyltransferase accepts GDP-L-fucose as a substrate.<sup>72</sup> Likewise,  $\alpha 1, 3/1, 4$  human milk FucT can transfer L-galactose from GDP-L-galactose.73 In fact, the human milk FucT is very permissive with respect to its substrate specificity. This enzyme is capable of fucosyl transfer to tertiary hydroxyl groups on unnatural methylated derivatives of GlcNAc,<sup>74</sup> is active in the presence of sulfation,<sup>75</sup> and even allows extensive modifications to the 6-position of the fucose ring (Scheme 14). Tolerated additions include long alkyl chains,<sup>76</sup> biotinylated linkers,<sup>77</sup> and even linkers terminating in oligosaccharides such as human blood group B<sup>78</sup> and sulfo and sialyl Le<sup>x</sup>.<sup>79</sup> This finding has been exploited for the modification of glycoproteins on erythrocytes and CHO cells.

b. Fucosidases. Fucosidases from various sources (A. niger, Corynebacterium sp., Amullaria, porcine liver, *Fussarium oxysporum*, bovine liver and kidney) have been investigated for the ability to transfer fucose to galactose, glucose, and GlcNAc.<sup>80</sup> Those from A. niger, P. multicolor, and bovine kidney have been found to catalyze the addition of fucose in an α1,3-linkage to GlcNAc under kinetic conditions.<sup>81,31j</sup> C-Fucoside affinity chromatography has been employed for the isolation of a porcine liver fucosidase that catalyzes the formation of  $\alpha$ 1,2- and  $\alpha$ 1,6linkages.<sup>82</sup> In contrast, the  $\beta$ -glycosidase from *S*. *solfataricus* transfers fucose in a  $\beta$ -linkage.<sup>38b</sup> Notably, the Wang group has screened a library of thermophilic glycosidases for a Fuc( $\beta$ 1,2)Xyl-specific enzyme (Scheme 15).<sup>83</sup> Catalyst screening represents





 $R = (CH_2)_8CO_2Me \text{ or}$ R = cell surface glycoprotein











a new strategy in glycosidase-based synthesis. Instead of focusing on the reactions catalyzed by a single glycosidase, several glycosidases are screened for the potential to catalyze formation of a specific linkage.

#### 4. Mannose

a. Mannosyltransferases (ManT). Certain mannosyltransferases have been utilized for synthetic purposes, although very few are readily available. Recombinant  $\beta$ 1,4-ManT has been overexpressed and employed in the synthesis of the core dolichol-conjugated trisaccharide of *N*-linked glycans.<sup>84</sup> Various phytanyl and lauryl substitutions of the lipid have also been analyzed (Scheme 16).<sup>85a</sup>  $\beta$ 1,4-ManT

#### Scheme 16. β1,4-Mannosyl Transfer to Lipid-Linked Chitobiose Structures<sup>85</sup>



is especially valuable synthetically as  $\beta$ -mannosyl linkages are exceedingly difficult to form chemically. This was exemplified in the synthesis of the bacterial O antigen of *Salmonella* serogroup E<sub>1</sub>.<sup>85b</sup> Furthermore, a recombinant  $\alpha$ 1,2-ManT has been overexpressed for use in a GDP-mannose recycling system. Several mannosyl conjugates were generated by this strategy, including mannosyl-glycopeptides.<sup>86</sup> This methodology was further extended to the use of whole cells as the source of  $\alpha$ 1,2-ManT.<sup>87</sup>

**b.** Mannosidases. Both  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -mannosidases have been applied to synthesis.<sup>38a,44e</sup> The  $\alpha$ -mannosidase from A. niger characteristically produces mixtures of mannosyl-oligomers.<sup>88</sup> Optimization of separation procedures, however, allowed facile separation of the regioisomeric product compounds. The  $\alpha$ -mannosidase from jack bean has been utilized to transfer mannose onto cyclodextrin rings.<sup>89</sup> Notably, the α1,2mannosidase from A. phoenicis was found to produce mannobiose and mannotriose structures with absolute regiospecificity under equilibrium conditions, a rare trait in glycosidases.<sup>90</sup> Furthermore, Thiem and co-workers discovered that  $\beta$ -galactosidase from A. oryzae as well as the  $\beta$ -mannosidase from snail *viscera* can catalyze the formation of  $\beta$ -mannosides under kinetic conditions.91

#### 5. N-Acetylhexosamines

a. *N*-Acetylhexosaminyltransferases (GlcNAcT, GalNAcT). Since most *N*-acetylhexosaminyltrans-

ferases are not commercially available, studies have been limited. *N*-Acetylglucosaminyltransferases (GlcNAcT) are generally involved in the elaboration of *N*-linked glycans on glycoproteins. As such, many studies have elucidated the specificity of GlcNAcT isozymes (I–IV) for branched trimannosyl core structures,<sup>92</sup> including the evaluation of deoxy substrates (Scheme 17).<sup>93</sup> GlcNAcT I has been employed to

## Scheme 17. Specificity of GlcNAcT Isozymes I and II on a Branched Tri-Mannose Core<sup>93</sup>



transfer GlcNAc in a  $\beta$ 1,2-linkage to mannose-based trisaccharides.<sup>94</sup> Some modifications to the nucleotide sugar donor are tolerated, as the core 2 GlcNAcT can use *N*-trifluoroacetyl-glucosaminyl-UDP as a substrate.<sup>95</sup> The *N. meningitidis* GlcNAcT can employ either UDP-GlcNAc or UDP-GalNAc as donor substrate, and its acceptor specificity has recently been investigated.<sup>96</sup> A  $\beta$ 1,3-GalNAcT has been studied with respect to the role of sulfation on chondroitan sulfate oligomers,<sup>97</sup> and an  $\alpha$ 1,3-GalNAcT from porcine liver has been utilized for the synthesis of the blood group A trisaccharide.<sup>98</sup> A novel chemoenzymatic synthesis of donor substrate UDP-GalNAc has also recently been published.<sup>99</sup>

**b.** *N*-Acetylhexosaminidases. As many *N*-acetylhexosaminyltransferases are not commercially available, hexosaminidases offer an alternative synthetic approach.<sup>38a,100</sup> Crout et al. have undertaken many studies on the  $\beta$ -*N*-acetyl-hexosaminidase from *A. oryzae*. This enzyme transfers GlcNAc or GalNAc to monosaccharides under kinetically controlled conditions (Scheme 18).<sup>101</sup> Although mixtures of  $\beta$ 1,4- and

#### Scheme 18. Tandem Use of Two $\beta$ -N-Acetylhexosaminidases for the Synthesis of a Specific Disaccharide Product<sup>101</sup>



 $\beta$ 1,6-linked products are generally formed, incubation with a second glycosidase results in hydrolysis of all but the  $\beta$ 1,4-linked product. This enzyme has been utilized to construct various chito-oligomers<sup>102</sup> and glycosyl-amino acids,<sup>103</sup> and has been extensively studied with respect to anomeric control.<sup>104</sup> This glycosidase has also been applied in conjunction with  $\beta$ -galactosidase for the construction of trisaccharides.<sup>105</sup> Interestingly, in a study by Murata et al. on  $\beta$ -*N*-acetyl-hexosaminidase from *N. orientalis*, the ratio of product mixture regioisomers was altered when reactions were performed in the presence of  $\alpha$ -cyclodextrin.<sup>106</sup>

#### 6. Glucose

a. Glucosyltransferases (GlcT, GlcUAT). Glucuronosyltransferases have been utilized for the transfer of glucuronic acid to phenolic and steroidal substrates.<sup>107</sup> Similarly, Gygax et al. have reported a recycling system for UDP-GlcUA for the synthesis of GlcUA linked aglycones.<sup>108</sup> In this process, UDP-GlcUA was generated from UDP-Glc, a reaction catalyzed by UDP-Glc dehydrogenase. The required NAD cofactor was regenerated by the action of lactate dehydrogenase on the byproduct NADH. A regeneration system for UDP-Glc in the synthesis of sucrose and trehalose has also been described.<sup>109</sup> Furthermore,  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT can reportedly be employed to transfer glucose from UDP-Glc to acceptor sugars.<sup>110</sup> to form linear or branched gluco-oligomers from  $\alpha CD.^{111}$ 

**b. Glucosidases.** Glucosidases are much more prevalently utilized in synthesis than glucosyltransferases. Several groups have reported the use of glucosidases in the synthesis of gluco-oligomers<sup>112</sup> or the formation of alkyl glucosides.<sup>38,44e,113</sup> Prade et al. reported glucosidase-catalyzed synthesis using various glycosyl donors, such as pNP-ethers, fluorides, and the unlikely glucal.<sup>114</sup> Even a glucosidase-labile protecting group has been published.<sup>115</sup> Remarkably, a solvent-free glucosidase-catalyzed synthesis, involving the use of a solid support and microwave radiation, has been investigated.<sup>116</sup> The reaction rate was greatly increased under these conditions; however, this procedure can be applied only to thermostable glycosidases.

Mutant glucosidases ("glycosynthases", *Agrobacterium* sp.  $\beta$ -glucosidase E358A, *B. lichenifomis*  $\beta$ 1,3/ 1,4-glucanase E134A) have been engineered by two groups (Scheme 19). These enzymes lack a catalytic

#### Scheme 19. Mechanistic Comparison of Wild-Type Glucosidases and Engineered Mutant "Glyco-Synthases"<sup>117</sup>

A. Wild-type glucosidase

B. Mutant "glycosynthase"



nucleophile in the active site and are utilized in conjunction with activated glycosyl donors of the opposite configuration as the desired product. They can synthesize but not hydrolyze the product, thus solving one of the major problems encountered in most glycosidase-based syntheses.<sup>117</sup>

#### B. Transfer of Oligosaccharides

#### 1. endo-Glycosidases

endo-Glycosidases cleave internal glycosidic linkages, generally at a position between two sugars. For example, the endo-glycosidases Endo-A (A. protophormiae), Endo-M (M. hiemalis), and Endo-F (F. *meningosepticum*) have long been applied to the study of *N*-linked glycan chains of glycoproteins as they cleave the bond between the chitobiose disaccharide. The first reports that endoglycosidases could be employed for synthetic purposes emerged over a decade ago. Endo-F was shown to synthesize transglycosylation products with high mannose N-glycans,<sup>118</sup> and an endo-N-acetyl-galactosaminidase from Diplococcus pneumoniae was characterized for acceptor specificity.<sup>119</sup> Until recently, the synthetic utility of endo-glycosidases has not been fully realized.

N-Linked glycans are generally categorized as either high-mannose, hybrid, or complex, although some consider poly(LacNAc) linked chains a fourth category. Some endo-glycosidases exhibit stringent substrate specificity, while others accept a broad range of glycan substrates. To date, two of these enzymes have been used largely for synthetic purposes. Endo-A recognizes only high-mannose chains, while Endo-M accepts complex and hybrid glycan chains as well. Endo-A has been examined in terms of acceptor specificity and stability to the addition of organic cosolvent.<sup>120</sup> Furthermore, Endo-A transglycosylation was utilized to prepare a polyacrylamide conjugate which was subsequently copolymerized to afford a neoglycoconjugate.<sup>121</sup> The synthesis of glycopeptides<sup>122</sup> and unnatural glycopeptide analogues<sup>123</sup> have been undertaken as well. For example, a C-linked glycopeptide prepared by Endo-A transglycosylation was shown to be a potent inhibitor of broad-spectrum glycoamidases (Scheme 20).<sup>124</sup> In this case, the insertion of a single methylene group between the glycan and peptide conferred resistance to N-glycanase-based hydrolysis.

Endo-M, in contrast, has been employed in the synthesis of glycopeptides containing high mannose, complex sialoglycans, and complex asialoglycans (Scheme 21).<sup>125</sup> Glycosylation of calcitonen, which does not naturally contain sugar chains, was accomplished by this method. This allowed structural and functional consequences of glycosylation on biological activity to be assessed. Moreover, Endo-M has been utilized to transfer *N*-glycans onto  $\beta$ -cyclodextrins.<sup>126</sup>

Ceramide glycanase is an endo-glycosidase which cleaves linkages between the carbohydrate and lipid tail of glycolipids. Utilizing this enzyme under *trans*glycosylation conditions, glycolipid analogues of ganglioside GM<sub>1</sub> and fluorogenic substrates for spectral assay have been prepared.<sup>127</sup> While the oligosaccharyltransferase (OST) responsible for the transfer of dolichol-linked glycans to Asn of a nascent polypeptide chain is not readily available, its substrate specificity has been investigated, albeit to a limited extent.<sup>128</sup>





Scheme 21. Synthesis of Glycosylated Derivatives of Calcitonen by Endo-M Transglycosylation<sup>125</sup>



#### 2. Polymerizing Enzymes

Enzymes that hydrolyze glycopolymers in vivo have also been applied to the synthesis of well-defined oligosaccharides in vitro.<sup>129</sup> Chitinase has been utilized to synthesize GlcNAc oligomers from chitobiose.<sup>130</sup> Lysozyme has also been shown to catalyze this transformation on a protected chitotriose.<sup>131</sup> Interestingly, Kobayashi used an oxazoline transition state analogue of the chitin hydrolysis reaction as the monomer substrate for chitinase-catalyzed polymerization (Scheme 22). The premise for this study was

#### Scheme 22. Utilization of an Oxazoline Transition-State Analog as the Monomer for Chitinase Polymerization<sup>132</sup>



that a distorted glycosyl donor would approximate the hydrolytic transition state structure and would thereby lower the activation barrier for the enzymatic transformation. Glycosylation could then occur at pH values where hydrolysis was unfavorable. In keeping with their theory, chitin polymerization was accomplished at pH 10.6 without the observation of hydrolysis products when employing this oxazoline donor.<sup>132</sup> Cellulase polymerization of lactosyl fluorides and nonglucosidic sugars has also been reported.<sup>133</sup>

#### IV. Enzymes that Do Not Form Glycosidic Linkages

Enzymes that are not involved in the formation of glycosidic linkages are also of interest in complex glycoconjugate synthesis. Relevant post-translational modifications of oligosaccharides and glycopeptides often provide a required biological recognition element. Enzymes have also had great utility as protecting group removing agents or in the synthesis of glycopeptides, glycoproteins, glycolipids, and unnatural sugar structures.

#### A. Sulfotransferases

Sulfation on either the hydroxyl group of an oligosaccharide or the peptide to which it is attached is an important post-translational modification that has not yet been studied in great detail. However, a few recent reports have advanced the field toward this end. Lin et al. developed a six-enzyme recycling system for the regeneration of PAPS, the universal biological donor of sulfate. This regeneration cycle was employed in the sulfation of chito- and LacNAcbased oligomers.<sup>134</sup> A simpler two-enzyme recycling system which utilizes an arylsulfotransferase for the same purpose has also been described (Scheme 23).<sup>135</sup> The substrate specificity of a GlcNAc 6-sulfotransferase potentially involved in the synthesis of Gly-





CAM-1, an L-selectin ligand, has also been explored.<sup>136</sup> Furthermore, the tyrosylprotein-sulfotransferase responsible for the sulfation of the Nterminus of glycoprotein PSGL-1 has been studied to some extent and is expected to be of great interest in the future.<sup>137</sup> Other sulfotransferases that add sulfate to carbohydrates or peptides have been discovered but largely have not been employed for synthetic purposes.<sup>138</sup>

#### **B.** Proteases

Proteases have dual function in the synthesis of glycoconjugates. These enzymes can be utilized for the formation of peptide bonds of glycopeptides or as selective acylating agents. Subtilisin has been a popular choice among enzyme engineers for mutational analysis. The Wells group reported the use of an engineered variant of subtilisin BPN' (subtiligase) for the synthesis of RNase A with unnatural catalytic residues.<sup>139</sup> Furthermore, the generation of thermostable variants of subtilisin 8397 has led to enzymes with altered stability of broadened substrate specificity.<sup>140</sup> Subtilisin BPN' has been explored as a catalyst for ligation of unnatural peptide-based structures.<sup>141</sup> The ability to catalyze peptide-bond formation with the glycosylated amino acid occupying different subsites of subtilisin BPN' was analyzed,<sup>142</sup> and a useful strategy for the synthesis of glycoproteins based on a combination of enzymatic glycopeptide coupling and glycosyltransferase reactions was developed (Scheme 24).143

Subtilisin has been utilized both for selective ester hydrolysis<sup>144</sup> and for the esterification of oligosaccharides<sup>145</sup> and glycolipids. It was employed for the acylation of the antigenic 9-*O*-acetyl-GD<sub>3</sub> ganglioside, which is currently a potential cancer vaccine candidate (Scheme 25).<sup>146</sup> The protease papain has been used for deprotection of the C-terminal esters of glycopeptides.<sup>147</sup>

#### C. Lipases

Lipases have been applied to the selective acylation or hydrolysis of esters at specific positions on a glycoconjugate.<sup>148</sup> This class of enzymes has been particularly important in the synthesis of glycopeptides, as lipase reactions proceed under essentially neutral pH conditions which are compatible with acid- or base-labile glycosidic linkages. Deprotection problems generally associated with traditional protecting groups are thereby overcome. Several lipaselabile esters have been described for glycopeptide synthesis,<sup>149</sup> including heptyl,<sup>150</sup> MEM,<sup>151</sup> PEG,<sup>151</sup> and phenoxyacyl.<sup>152</sup> Butyrylcholine esterase was especially useful for the deprotection of phosphorylated glycopeptides.<sup>153</sup>

#### **D.** Aldolases

Aldolases have proven useful in the formation of monosaccharides and their derivatives, and synthetic applications have been reviewed extensively.<sup>154</sup> DHAP (dihydroxyacetone phosphate)-dependent aldolases have been utilized for the synthesis of carbohydrates containing <sup>13</sup>C labels, heteroatoms, and deoxygenated sites.<sup>4b,8f</sup> The condensation of DHAP with pentoses or hexoses affords NeuAc and KDO analogues.<sup>155</sup> Iminocyclitols and L-sugars can also be readily obtained analogously (Scheme 26).

NeuAc aldolase catalyzes the condensation of Man-NAc and pyruvate to give NeuAc. As such, the use of NeuAc aldolase has allowed the preparation of various NeuAc derivatives, including aza-sugars.<sup>156</sup> Unlike other aldolase reactions, the NeuAc aldolase reaction is a substrate-control process, i.e. using L-sugars as substrates, L-NeuAc derivatives are obtained. Using the technique of directed evolution, D-KDPG aldolase has been altered to a KDG aldolase which accepts both L- and D-glyceraldehyde as substrate with the same facial selectivity, thus extending the scope of enzymatic aldol addition reactions.<sup>157</sup> Similarly, KDO aldolase is also pyruvate-dependent and has been characterized with regard to substrate specificity.

DERA is an acetaldehyde-dependent aldolase that catalyzes the condensation of two aldehydes. DERAcatalyzed reactions have provided iminocyclitols, among other structures, and the tandem use of DERA and NeuAc aldolase affords deoxy NeuAc derivatives (Scheme 27). Due to the incompatible nature of the two aldolase reactions, however, these enzymes cannot be combined in a one-pot synthesis.<sup>158</sup>

## Scheme 24. Combination of Subtilisin and Glycosyltransferases for the Synthesis of Homogeneous Glycoproteins<sup>143</sup>



Scheme 25. Subtilisin-Based Acylation for Production of 9-*O*-acetyl-GD<sub>3</sub><sup>146</sup>



#### E. Other Enzymes

Other enzymes with interesting activity have found applications in glycoconjugate synthesis as well. A

new strategy toward glycoprotein synthesis involves intein-catalyzed peptide ligation, a technique which arose through studies of protein-splicing mechanisms. This method has allowed the preparation of a novel maltose-binding protein with GlcNAc appended to the C-terminus (Scheme 28).<sup>159</sup> This construct was shown to be a substrate for  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT and could therefore potentially be further elaborated with other glycosyltransferases to provide complex homogeneous glycoproteins. An alternative strategy employs galactose oxidase as a catalyst in the formation of 6-oxo-galactose structures. The Bertozzi group exploited this enzyme for the synthesis of unnatural glycopeptide conjugates.<sup>160</sup> In this case, 6-oxo-Gal-NAc-linked peptides were selectively coupled to oxime-functionalized sugars to give novel glycoconjugates that contained the natural GalNAc- $\alpha$ -O-Thr linkage.



V. Use of Multiple Enzymes for Complex Glycoconjugate Synthesis

#### A. Sequential Transfer

#### 1. Multiple Glycosyltransferases

As glycosyltransferases exhibit unique linkage specificity, it has been possible to plan complex syntheses that utilize several of these catalysts in sequence. Of great interest have been sialyl lactosamine (SLN) structures which appear on cellsurface glycolipids and glycoproteins. Utilizing  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT and either  $\alpha 2,6$ -SiaT or  $\alpha 2,3$ -SiaT in sequence readily provides these epitopes. The SLN trisaccharide and analogues have been enzymatically synthesized in solution,<sup>161</sup> on solid support,<sup>162</sup> attached to N-linked glycopeptides,<sup>163</sup> on glycosphingolipids,<sup>5,164</sup> and even on branched Asn-linked undecasaccharides.<sup>165</sup> Although several studies of glycopeptide structure have been undertaken,<sup>166</sup> it remains difficult to assess the effect of glycosylation on glycoprotein structure. Notably, Miyazaki et al. utilized  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT and  $\alpha$ 2,6-SiaT in sequence to transfer [<sup>13</sup>C]-Gal and [13C]9-Fluoro-NeuAc to the surface of hen ovalbumin for the purpose of NMR structural analysis (Scheme 29).<sup>167</sup>

Another carbohydrate structure that has attracted attention is the sialyl Lewis x tetrasaccharide (sLe<sup>x</sup>).

Scheme 27. Combination of DERA with DHAP- or Pyruvate-Dependent Aldolases for the Synthesis of Deoxy-NeuAc Derivatives<sup>158</sup>







This structure functions as the minimum ligand for the selectin family of glycoproteins. Two general



enzymatic strategies have been utilized for the synthesis of this epitope. The first involves applying  $\alpha 2,3$ -SiaT and  $\alpha 1,3$ -FucT in sequence to append NeuAc and Fuc to a preformed LacNAc structure. This series has been used in the synthesis of sLe<sup>x</sup> dimers,<sup>168</sup> RGD peptide conjugates,<sup>169</sup> Hg-labeled sLe<sup>x</sup>,<sup>170</sup> sLe<sup>x</sup> on the termini of a trimannose core,<sup>171</sup> and the decasaccharide sialyl-trimeric-Lewis x.<sup>172</sup> The last study is notable in that FucT V and VI were

found to have different specificities within the sialyl-tri-LacNAc core (Scheme 30).

The utilization of  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT,  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT, and  $\alpha$ 1,3-FucT in sequence to form the sLe<sup>x</sup> tetrasaccharide from GlcNAc encompasses the second general approach to sLex synthesis. This series was first employed for the generation of sLe<sup>x</sup> and derivatives with sugar nucleotide recycling systems for each enzyme.<sup>173</sup> This three-enzyme sequence has subsequently been utilized extensively. The synthesis of sLe<sup>x</sup> on solid support,<sup>174</sup> in dendritic form,<sup>175</sup> on pseudo-glycopeptides,<sup>176</sup> in fluorescently labeled dimeric form,177 and in glycoliposomes178 has been accomplished. The utility of this enzymatic cascade in the synthesis of sLe<sup>x</sup> glycopeptides in solid- or solu-tion-phase synthesis<sup>179</sup> has been shown by the synthesis of sLe<sup>x</sup> glycopeptides (Scheme 31) from MAd-CAM-1<sup>180</sup> and the sulfated sLe<sup>x</sup> glycopeptide from PSGL-1.<sup>181</sup> During the synthesis of a PSGL-1 sulfated glycopeptide, it was found that the Tyr-O-sulfate group suppresses the activity of  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT and  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT involved in the biosynthesis of the O-glycan portion of the ligand, suggesting an important role for tyrosine sulfate in regulating the sugar-receptor interaction.

Other related complex structures have also been synthesized using several glycosyltransferases in sequence, including sLe<sup>x</sup> on a core 2 glycan<sup>182</sup> and the sLe<sup>x</sup> regioisomer sLe<sup>a</sup>.<sup>183</sup> A four-enzyme sequence including the  $\beta$ 1,6-GlcNAcT (core 2) was used for the synthesis of a branched poly(LacNAc) chain containing four sLe<sup>x</sup> tetrasaccharide structures.<sup>184</sup> Alternatively, lacto-*neo*-tetraose has been constructed on a solid phase with  $\beta$ 1,3-GlcNAcT and  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT.<sup>185</sup> The synthesis of <sup>13</sup>C labeled poly(LacNAc) chains<sup>186</sup> and branched poly(LacNAc) have also been reported.<sup>187</sup>

#### Scheme 30. Utilization of $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT and $\alpha$ 1,3-FucT VI for the Synthesis of Sialyl-Trimeric-Lewis x<sup>172</sup>



Scheme 31. (a) Solid-phase Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of Glycopeptides from MAdCAM-1.<sup>180</sup> (b) Solution-Phase Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of Sulfated Glycopeptides from PSGL-1.<sup>181</sup> (c) P-Selectin/PSGL-1 Interaction<sup>137</sup>

#### A. MAdCAM-1



B. PSGL-1





#### C. The P-selectin/PSGL-1 interaction



#### 2. Glycosyltransferases in Combination with Glycosidases

Glycosyltransferases and glycosidases have been employed in synthetic sequence to provide complex target structures. Galactose-terminating oligosaccharides that were prepared with  $\beta$ -galactosidase have further served as substrates for glycosyltransferases,<sup>188</sup> in one case leading to the generation of a neoglycoprotein.<sup>189</sup> In an elegant example, Matsuo et al. employed  $\beta$ -galactosidase to form LacNAc in a  $\beta$ 1,2-linkage to a mannosyl-thioglycoside. This construct was then chemically activated for glycosylation to serine and further elaborated with  $\alpha$ 2,3-SiaT to

# Scheme 32. Employment of a Glycosidase, Glycosyltransferase, and Chemical Glycosylation for the Synthesis of a Component of $\alpha$ -Dystroglycan<sup>190</sup>



afford a newly discovered component of  $\alpha$ -dystroglycan (Scheme 32).<sup>190</sup> This series exemplifies the efficiency of chemoenzymatic synthetic approaches. *trans*-Sialidase (from *T. cruzi*) has been used in conjunction with  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT and  $\alpha$ 1,3-FucT to provide sLe<sup>x</sup>-based structures.<sup>191</sup> In other cases, glycosidases have been used to trim away unnecessary sugars prior to or after glycosyltransferase-catalyzed reactions,<sup>192</sup> thus functioning as protecting group removal agents.

#### 3. Glycosyltransferases in Combination with Other Enzymes

Glycosyltransferase-catalyzed reactions have also been utilized in sequence with proteases and endoglycosidases in recent efforts. The combination of  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT and subtilisin has been employed in the preparation of LacNAc-glycopeptides.<sup>193</sup> Subtilisincatalyzed cleavage and religation of glycopeptide fragments was also explored in the synthesis of a homogeneous RNase B glycoprotein. The natural RNase B *N*-linked glycan was first removed by Endo-H, leaving the reducing terminal GlcNAc on the protein surface. This handle was then elaborated with glycosyltransferases to yield an RNase B glycoprotein with a homogeneous sLe<sup>x</sup> glycoform on its surface (Scheme 33).<sup>143</sup>

Ceramide glycanase is another endo-glycosidase that has recently been utilized for the synthesis of glycolipids and derivatives. Yamada et al. developed a synthetic method based on a water-soluble acrylamide polymer. This construct allowed enzymatic transfer of sialic acid to a polymer-linked glycolipid and greatly facilitated purification. *trans*-Glycosylation with ceramide glycanase then released the glycoconjugate from the polymer while simulta-



neously affording the glycosyl ceramide structure,  $GM_3$  (Scheme 34).<sup>194</sup>

#### 4. Multiple Glycosidases

Reaction protocols which entail the use of glycosidases in sequence have also been reported. The tandem use of  $\beta$ -*N*-acetylhexosaminidase (*A. oryzae*) and  $\beta$ -mannosidase (various sources) has provided the core mannose-linked chitobiose trisaccharide of *N*-linked glycans (Scheme 35).<sup>195</sup>  $\alpha$ -Mannosidase (*A. niger*),  $\beta$ -*N*-acetyl-hexosaminidase (*B. circulans*), and  $\beta$ -galactosidase (*B. circulans*) have been applied in sequence to the synthesis of a trisaccharide common to all complex-type glycans.<sup>196</sup> Furthermore, tandem use of  $\beta$ - and  $\alpha$ -galactosidases has afforded the  $\alpha$ -Gal trisaccharide xenotransplantation epitope.<sup>197</sup>

#### B. One-Pot Multienzyme Synthesis

A large majority of enzymes function optimally near neutral pH in aqueous solution. In many cases, conditions for one-pot glycoconjugate synthesis involving several enzymes can therefore often be employed. Recently, a four-enzyme one-pot synthesis of 5-deoxy-5-ethyl-xylulose has been reported (Scheme 36).<sup>198</sup> Although the enzymes employed had a range of pH optima, enzyme activities were controlled by variation of pH over the course of the reaction. Glycosyltransferase-based systems in which the regeneration of sugar nucleotides is accomplished have been reported for the synthesis of 6'-SLN (Scheme 37),<sup>199</sup> the  $\alpha$ -Gal epitope,<sup>12h,200</sup> and a hyaluronic acid polymer.<sup>201</sup> A one-pot synthesis of Le<sup>x</sup> using  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT and  $\alpha$ 1,3-FucT has also been achieved.<sup>202</sup> GlyScheme 34. Enzymatic Glycolipid Synthesis on a Water-Soluble Polymer, Culminating in Ceramide Glycanase-Catalyzed *trans*-Glycosylation<sup>194</sup>



Scheme 35. Use of Multiple Glycosidases in the Synthesis of an *N*-Linked Glycan Trisaccharide<sup>195</sup>



cosidases and glycosyltransferases have also been utilized together in one-pot syntheses. In this case, the drawback of thermodynamic glycosidase reactions is overcome, as the glycosyltransferase removes the product and drives the glycosidase equilibrium in the forward direction. This strategy has been used



Scheme 37. Combination of UDP-Gal and CMP-NeuAc Recycling Systems for the One-Pot Synthesis of 6'-SLN from GlcNAc<sup>199</sup>



in the synthesis of core 2-trisaccharide,  $^{203}$  the sialyl-TF antigen (Scheme 38),  $^{204}$  and 6'-SLN.  $^{205}$ 

#### VI. Programmable One-Pot Oligosaccharide Synthesis

It is readily apparent that the use of enzymes has greatly simplified glycoconjugate synthesis. In certain Scheme 38. Combination of  $\beta$ -Galactosidase and  $\alpha 2,3$ -SiaT for the One-Pot Synthesis of the Sialyl-TF Antigen<sup>204</sup>



cases, complex target structures can be assembled in one pot. However, enzymes that catalyze every specific desired linkage in a carbohydrate chain are not currently available. Furthermore, since enzymatic reaction conditions are not always compatible with one another, not all enzymatic reactions are adaptable to one-pot synthesis. Enzymes may also be unpredictable when unnatural structures are the desired substrates. As such, chemical and chemoenzymatic carbohydrate synthesis remains a valuable pursuit. Moreover, if a general reaction condition for chemical glycosylation can be identified, chemical synthesis may be more generally amenable to onepot strategies. The goal of the recently reported programmable one-pot synthesis of oligosaccharides is to establish a protocol for the accurate construction of glycosidic bonds with specificity that mirrors that of enzyme-catalyzed glycosylation reactions.

#### A. One-Pot Synthetic Techniques

Chemical methods for one-pot syntheses of oligosaccharides have been explored by numerous research groups. Through various strategies, the onepot syntheses pursued involve several glycosyl donors selected to react in a specific order, thus resulting in a single oligosaccharide product (Scheme 39). The end result of these efforts has been the development of programmable one-pot synthesis, the nearest precur-

## Scheme 39. Design of One-Pot Sequential Oligosaccharide Synthetic Strategies



sor to automated oligosaccharide synthesis that exists today. The following synopsis relates advancements and observations that had a direct impact on the development of this method and is not intended to give exhaustive coverage of the field.

The ability to control glycosyl donor reactivity by careful selection of hydroxyl protecting groups is one of the underlying principles of programmable onepot oligosaccharide synthesis. The viability of this concept was first documented in the 1970s by Paulsen with the recognition that glycosyl halides bearing 2-O-ester protecting groups were much less easily hydrolyzed than their 2-O-ether counterparts.<sup>206</sup> Fraser-Reid subsequently described the ability to arm or disarm *n*-pentenyl glycosyl donors by manipulation of the 2-position hydroxyl protecting group.<sup>207</sup> As such, sugars bearing 2-O-ether protecting groups ("armed") were shown to react preferentially over those bearing 2-O-ester groups ("disarmed"). The "armed-disarmed" strategy was employed in the synthesis of specific disaccharide products in the presence of two potential glycosyl donors (Scheme 40). The Boons group, in turn, reported a comple-

Scheme 40. Fraser-Reid's Armed–Disarmed Strategy in the Synthesis of a Disaccharide<sup>207</sup>



mentary strategy in which reactivity of thioglycoside donors was manipulated through the steric bulk of the anomeric thioether substituent.<sup>208</sup> This strategy arose through the reasoning that control of glycoside reactivity solely by the 2-position protecting group was risky, as it is often a major determinant of the stereochemical outcome of a glycosylation reaction. Steric modulation of thioglycoside donor reactivity was then employed in the multistep synthesis of pentasaccharides without protecting-group manipulations (Scheme 41).

In 1993, the first true one-pot chemical glycosylation reactions were achieved. The initial report by Kahne et al. involved sequential activation of phenyl sulfoxide and thioglycoside glycosyl donors, leading to the one-pot synthesis of the trisaccharide of ciclamycin 0 (Scheme 42).<sup>209</sup> Takahashi et al. then described the application of various glycosyl donors in sequence (halides, thioglycosides, trichloroacetimidates) for selective glycosylation reactions.<sup>210</sup> This group has found that selective activation of different





glycosyl donors can be employed in one-pot syntheses by varying the activating agent, as exemplified by the synthesis of a hexaglucoside (Scheme 43). Chenault et al. also reported the concept of selective glycosyl donor activation in the one-pot synthesis of a trisaccharide.<sup>211</sup>

The Ley group then initiated studies that would have profound implications in the one-pot synthesis of oligosaccharides.<sup>212</sup> Insightful advances include the observation that a "semi-disarmed" thioglycoside glycosyl donor state could be accomplished using diacetal protecting groups, giving a intermediate level of reactivity control by Fraser-Reid's standards. Moreover, investigation of thio- and selenoglycosides revealed different reactivity profiles in the presence of the same activator, and these orthogonal glycosyl donors could further be induced to react in a controlled fashion in one-pot reactions (Scheme 44). The major contribution of the Ley group, however, was the notion of quantifying these various observations, which is discussed below.

Rather than one-pot synthesis, the Wong group originally focused on a multistep glycosylation strategy employing an orthogonally protected carbohydrate core structure.<sup>213</sup> Selective deprotection and glycosylation could be accomplished in an iterative fashion to give a library of compounds (Scheme 45). However, as isolation of the product after every step was required, generation of this modest-sized library

## Scheme 42. Kahne's One-Pot Synthesis of the Trisaccharide from Ciclamycin 0<sup>209</sup>



became tedious. Eventually, one-pot methods were pursued as a practical and more efficient alternative.

#### B. Quantitation of Glycosyl Donor Reactivity

The majority of one-pot synthetic techniques undertaken to date have been largely qualitative. However, the strategies pursued by the Ley and Wong groups are of note for their quantitative nature. In these cases, methods for the estimation of glycosyl donor reactivity for various sugar constructs were necessary. The Ley group was the first to assign relative reactivity values (RRV) to glycosyl donors.<sup>214</sup> In this case, the RRV values were determined by NMR. These RRVs describe the product ratio when two glycosyl donors compete for a single acceptor and were initially developed to rationalize the results of one-pot syntheses utilizing fully protected mannose and rhamnose donors. These values could in turn be utilized to predict the product outcome in a one-pot synthesis where multiple glycosyl donors were present and could also aid in the selection of donor sugars.

Subsequently, the Wong group took an alternative route to determining glycosyl donor reactivity.<sup>215</sup> Competition experiments performed by HPLC were used to assign RRV's to various thioglycosideactivated glycosyl donors and donor-acceptors (i.e., a thioglycoside with one hydroxyl exposed). In contrast to Ley's studies, these assignments were made





for several carbohydrates (glucose, GlcNAc, galactose, GalNAc, fucose, and mannose), including the fully protected thioglycosides and those containing one free hydroxyl group. The donors and donor-acceptors evaluated contained the p-methylthiophenyl leaving group and various protecting group patterns that allowed trends in reactivity to be identified within a given series of carbohydrates. The building blocks prepared by the Wong group and the RRV values are listed in Scheme 46. Several trends in glycosyl donor reactivity were identified by this analysis, and are as follows. (1) Pyranosides show reactivities that differ as a function of sugar. (2) <sup>1</sup>H NMR is predictive of reactivity within a series. (3) The reactivity of aminosugars can be tuned by choice of N-protecting group. (4) A general trend in protecting group effects exists. (5) The position of the pyranoside that most greatly affects the reactivity varies from carbohydrate to carbohydrate. (6) The magnitude of any effect is attenuated by its position on the pyranoside.

#### C. Programmable One-Pot Synthesis

The reactivity data collected was tabulated and employed to create both a database and a computer program (Optimer) to aid in one-pot synthetic design (Scheme 47).<sup>215</sup> Optimer is composed of a reactivity database and a search engine that contains information such as the name of the residue, the position of unprotected hydroxyl groups, and whether the 2'substituent directs glycosylation in an  $\alpha$ - or  $\beta$ -linkage. After the user selects a structure of interest, the program lists the 100 best combinations of reagents for its preparation and the predicted yield. To prove



its usefulness, Optimer was initially employed in the design of one-pot syntheses of five different oligosaccharides. When the building blocks that Optimer had selected were combined sequentially in solution, the predicted products were isolated. Thus, this program can be used for the design and preparation of linear or branched (Scheme 48) oligosaccharides in a controlled fashion. More recently, the construction of a small oligosaccharide library has been accomplished by these methods.<sup>216</sup>

Scheme 45. Wong's Orthogonal Deprotection Strategy for Generation of a Library<sup>213</sup>



To date, the characterization of reactivity parameters for six monosaccharides has been undertaken. Future plans include the generation of RRVs for other sugars, including complex carbohydrates such as sialic acid. Though the current methodology allows limited options for branched oligosaccharide synthesis, the one-pot procedure will be developed toward this end. The determination of reactivity data for selenoglycosides (as used by Ley) will also be pursued. This glycosyl donor can be activated in the same fashion as the thioglycosides already employed and may provide access to structures that are low yielding at present. Finally, alternative activation strategies will be investigated. Although the current strategy utilizes NIS as activator, favorable results have also been obtained with DMTST. All in all, the end goal is to generate the largest database possible so that any desired oligosaccharide structure can be formed in a single one-pot reaction designed by Optimer. At the present time, programmable one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis is the closest analogue to automated synthesis that exists. With continuing development, it will provide a valuable tool for biologists and chemists alike in the study of carbohydrate function.

#### VII. Future Directions

This review has described recent advances in enzymatic and chemical methods for the facile generation of complex oligosaccharides and glycoconjugates. While much synthetic progress has been accomplished in the past, research opportunities in this area remain abundant. In the enzymatic arena, increased commercial availability of glycosyltransferases and decreased sugar nucleotide cost would promote further investigations of glycosyltransferases as catalysts in glycosidic bond formation. Synthetic methods toward regiospecifically esterified, sulfated, or phosphorylated glycoconjugates are also of interest in the study of post-translational modification func-

#### Scheme 46. Table of Glycosyl Donor and Donor-Acceptor Reactivity As Determined by HPLC<sup>215</sup>



tion. Access to homogeneous glycoproteins is also necessary to truly understand the functional and structural consequences of glycosylation on a protein backbone. Although substantial advances in enzymatic and chemoenzymatic syntheses have been made, access to all desired glycoconjugates remains a daunting challenge. In the chemical front, advances in chemical one-pot synthetic methods have yielded a database of glycosyl donor reactivities and a computer program to aid in the synthesis of oligosac-

Scheme 47. Optimer-Programmed Synthesis of a Linear Oligosaccharide<sup>215</sup>



Scheme 48. Optimer-Designed Synthesis of a Branched Tetrasaccharide<sup>215</sup>



charides. This methodology shows great promise toward the development of automated carbohydrate synthesis and will be a method applicable to the rapid synthesis of complex oligosaccharides. In general, glycosylation remains one of the most poorly understood posttranslational modifications, although general themes in glycoconjugate function are slowly emerging. Further progress in this field relies on the

availability of material for study, and the methods described herein represent the state-of-the-art in facile glycoconjugate synthesis to date.

#### VIII. References

- (1) (a) Varki, A. Glycobiology 1993, 3, 97. (b) Dwek, R. A. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 683. (c) Sears, P.; Wong, C.-H. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 1998, 54, 223
- (a) Schachter, H. Biochem. Cell Biol. 1985, 64, 163. (b) Jenkins, (2)R. A.; Parekh, R. B.; James, D. C. Nat. Biotechnol. 1996, 14, 975.
- (3) (a) Leloir, L. F. Science 1971, 172, 1299. (b) Kornfeld, R.; Kornfeld, S. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1985, 54, 631.
- (4)(a) Heidlas, J. E.; Williams, K. W.; Whitesides, G. M. Acc. Chem. *Res.* **1992**, *25*, 307. (b) Wong, C.-H.; Whitesides, G. M. *Enzymes* in Synthetic Organic Chemistry, Pergamon: Oxford, 1994; p 252.
- (5)Unverzagt, C.; Kunz, H.; Paulson, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112. 9308.
- (6) Ichikawa, Y.; Wang, R.; Wong, C.-H. Methods Enzymol. 1994, 247, 107.
- (7) Palcic, M. M. Methods Enzymol. 1994, 230, 300
- (a) Palcic, M. M. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 1999, 10, 616. (b) Watt, G. M.; Lowden, P. A. S.; Flitsch, S. L. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. G. M.; Lowden, P. A. S.; Flitsch, S. L. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1997, 7, 652. (c) Wong, C.-H.; Halcomb, R. L.; Ichikawa, Y.; Kajimoto, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 412 and 521. (d) Guo, Z.; Wang, P. G. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 1997, 68, 1. (e) David, S.; Auge, C.; Gautheron, C. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 1991, 49, 175. (f) Gijsen, H. J. M.; Qiao, L.; Fitz, W.; Wong, C.-H. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 443. (g) Takayama, S.; Wong, C.-H. Curr. Org. Chem. 1997, 1, 109. (h) Crout, D. H. G.; Vic, G. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1998, 2, 98. (i) Ichikawa, Y. In Glycopeptides and Related Compounds; Large, D. G., Warren, C. D. Eds.: Marcel Dekker. New York 1997, n 79. C. D., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1997; p 79. Sinnott, M. L Chem. Rev. **1990**, *90*, 1171.
- (9)
- (10)Arsequell, G.; Valencia, G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 3045.
- Wong, C.-H.; Haynie, S. L.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 5418. (11)
- (12) (a) Elling, L.; Grothus, M.; Kula, M.-R. Glycobiology 1993, 3, (a) Ehring, E., Gröbning, M., Kula, M.-R. *Glycobiology* 1393, 5, 349.
  (b) Herrmann, G. F.; Elling, L.; Krezdorn, C. H.; Kleene, R.; Berger, E. G.; Wandrey, C. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 1995, 5, 673.
  (c) Wong, C.-H.; Wang, R.; Ichikawa, Y. *J. Org. Chem.* 1992, 57, 4343.
  (d) Noguchi, T.; Shiba, T. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 4343. (d) Noguchi, 1.; Shiba, 1. *Discl. Discentiol. Discretion.* **1998**, 62, 1594. (e) Ichikawa, M.; Schnaar, R. L.; Ichikawa, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, 36, 8731. (f) Zervosen, A.; Elling, L. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, 118, 1836. (g) Endo, T.; Koizumi, S.; Tabata, K.; Ozaki, A. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1998**, *316*, 179. (h) Hokke,

C. H.; Zervosen, A.; Elling, L.; Joziasse, D. H.; van den Eijnden, D. H. *Glycoconjugate J.* **1996**, *13*, 687.
 (13) Gastinel, L. N.; Cambillau, C.; Bourne, Y. *EMBO J.* **1999**, *18*,

- 3546.
- 3546.
  (a) Panza, L.; Chiappini, P. L.; Russo, G.; Monti, D.; Riva, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 1255. (b) Tsuruta, O.; Shinohara, G.; Yuasa, H.; Hashimoto, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 2523. (c) Kodama, H.; Kajihara, Y.; Endo, T.; Hashimoto, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 6419. (d) Yuasa, H.; Hindsgaul, O.; Palcic, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5891. (e) Uchiyama, T.; Hindsgaul, O. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1998, 1181. (f) Elling L.; Zervosen A.; Gallego R. G.; Nieder V.; Malissard (14)(b) Confyland, F., Thusgadi, G. S. Callego, R. G.; Nieder, V.; Malissard, M.; Berger, E. G.; Vliegenthart, J. F. G.; Kamerling, J. P. *Glycoconjugate J.* **1999**, *16*, 327. (g) Auge, C.; Mathieu, C.; Merienne, C. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1986**, *151*, 147. (h) Thiem, J.; Wiemann, T. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1991**, *30*, 1163. (c) Warge C. I. Levienne, C. Warge C. J. Conthermal L. Nerver, C. Lebilarge C. M. Strach, Strategy and Strategy and
- (15) (a) Wong, C.-H.; Krach, T.; Gautheron-Le Narvor, C.; Ichikawa, Y.; Look, G. C.; Gaeta, F.; Thompson, D.; Nicolaou, K. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 4867. (b) Wong, C.-H.; Ichikawa, Y.; Krach, T.; Gautheron-Le Narvor, C.; Dumas, D. P.; Look, G. C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1991**, *113*, 8137. (c) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Ernst, B. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 749. (d) Ohrlein, R.; Ernst, B.; Berger, E. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 236, 335.
- (16) (a) Nishida, Y.; Wiemann, T.; Thiem, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8043. (b) Nishida, Y.; Wiemann, T.; Sinnwell, V.; Thiem, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1993**, 115, 2536. (17) (a) Schultz, M.; Kunz, H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1993**, 4, 1205.
- (b) Thiem, J.; Wiemann, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 80. (c) Thiem, J.; Wiemann, T. Synthesis 1992, 141.
  (18) (a) Meldal, M.; Auzanneau, F.-I.; Hindsgaul, O.; Palcic, M. M.
- . Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1849. (b) Nishimura, S. I.; Matsuoka, K.; Lee, Y. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 5657. (c) Kopper, S. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 265, 161.
- (a)Niggemann, J.; Kamerling, J. P.; Vliegenthart, J. F. G. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I* **1998**, 3011. (b) Niggemann, J.; Kamerling, J. P.; Vliegenthart, J. F. G. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **1998**, (19)6, 1605. (c) Lehmann, J.; Petry, S. Carbohydr. Res. 1990, 204, 141.
- (20) Yu, L.; Cabrera, R.; Ramirez, J.; Malinovskii, V. A.; Brew, K.; Wang, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 2897.
- (a) Kren, V.; Auge, C.; Sedmera, P.; Havlicek, V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 2481. (b) Riva, S.; Sennino, B.; Zambian-(21)chi, F.; Danieli, B.; Panza, L. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 525.
- (22) Leray, E.; Parrot-Lopez, H.; Auge, C.; Coleman, A. W.; Finance, C.; Bonaly, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1019.
  (23) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Streiff, M.; Kolbinger, F. Bioorg. Med.
- (24) Ujita, M.; McAuliffe, J.; Hindsgaul, O.; Sasaki, K.; Fukuda, M. N.; Fukuda, M. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 16717.
   (25) Koizumi, S.; Endo, T.; Tabata, K.; Ozaki, A. Nat. Biotechnol.
- 1998. 16. 847. (26)
- Lougheed, B.; Ly, H. D.; Wakarchuk, W. W.; Withers, S. G. J. Biol. Chem. **1999**, 274, 37717.
- (27)Chen, X.; Andreana, P. R.; Wang, P. G. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1999, *3*, 650.
- (a) Sujino, K.; Malet, C.; Hindsgaul, O.; Palcic, M. M. Carbohydr. (28) *Res.* **1998**, *305*, 483. (b) Stults, C. L. M.; Macher, B. A.; Bhatti, R.; Srivastava, O. P.; Hindsgaul, O. *Glycobiology* **1999**, *9*, 661, (c) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Kölbinger, F.; Streiff, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 1575.
- (29)Qian, X.; Sujino, K.; Otter, A.; Palcic, M. M.; Hindsgaul, O. J.
- *Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 12063. Wang, J.-Q.; Chen, X.; Zhang, W.; Zacharek, S.; Chen, Y.; Wang, P. W. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 8174. (30)
- (31) (a) Takayama, S.; Shimazaki, M.; Qiao, L.; Wong, C.-H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 1123. (b) Li, J.; Wang, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7967. (c) Yoon, J.-H.; Ajisaka, K. Carbohydr. Res. 1996, 292, 153. (d) Sakai, K.; Katsumi, R.; Ohi, H.; Usui, T.; Ishido, Y. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **1992**, *11*, 553. (e) Usui, T.; Kubota, S.; Ohi, H. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1993**, *244*, 315. (f) Herrmann, G. F.; Kragl, U.; Wandrey, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1342. (g) Farkas, E.; Thiem, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 3073, 3. (h) Fang, J.; Xie, W.; Li, J.; Wang, P. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 919. (i) Nilsson, K. G. I.; Pan, H.; Larsson-Lorek, U. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 459. (j) Nilsson, K. G. I.; Eliasson, A.; Larsson-Lorek, U. Biotechnol. Lett. 1995, 17, 717
- (32) Kimura, T.; Takayama, S.; Huang, H.; Wong, C.-H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 2348.
- Ajisaka, K.; Fujimoto, H.; Isomura, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, (33)*259*, 103.
- (34) See 32(c), also (a) Li, J.; Robertson, D. E.; Short, J. M.; Wang, P. G. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. **1999**, *9*, 35. (b) Vic, G.; Hastings, J. J.; Howarth, O. W.; Crout, D. H. G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1996**, *7*, 709. (c) Fujimoto, H.; Nakano, H.; Isomura, M.; Kitahata, S.; Ajisaka, K. *Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem.* **1997**, *61*, 1258. (d) Suzuki, K.; Fujimoto, H.; Ito, Y.; Sasaki, T.; Ajisaka, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 1211. (e) Usui, T.; Morimoto, S.; Hayakawa, Y.; Kawaguchi, M.; Murata, T.; Matahira, Y.;

- (35) (a) Lopez, R.; Fernandez-Mayoralas, A.; Martin-Lomas, M.; Guisan, J. M. Biotechnol. Lett. 1991, 13, 705. (b) Yasukochi, T.; Fukase, K.; Kusumoto, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 6591.
- Holla, E. W.; Schudok, M.; Weber, A.; Zulauf, M. J. Carbohydr. (36)Chem. 1992, 11, 659.
- (37) Kojima, M.; Seto, T.; Kyotani, Y.; Ogawa, H.; Kitazawa, S.; Mori, K.; Maruo, S.; Ohgi, T.; Ezure, Y. *Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem.* **1996**, *60*, 694.
- (a) Mori, T.; Okahata, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 1971. (b) Trincone, A.; Improta, R.; Nucci, R.; Rossi, M.; Gambacorta, A. (38)Biocatalysis 1994, 10, 195.
- Li, J.; Cheng, H. N.; Nickol, R. G.; Wang, P. G. Carbohydr. Res. (39)1999, 316, 133.
- (40) (a) McAuliffe, J. C.; Fukuda, M.; Hindsgaul, O. Bioorg. Med. *Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 2855. (b) Rice, K. G. *Methods Enzymol.* **1994**, *247*, 30. (c) Schwarzmann, G.; Hofmann, P.; Putz, U. Carbohydr. Res. **1997**, 304, 43. Takada, M.; Ogawa, K.; Saito, S.; Murata, T.; Usui, T. J.
- (41)Biochem. **1998**, *123*, 508. (a) Okahata, Y.; Mori, T. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* **1 1996**,
- (42)2861. (b) Mori, T.; Fujita, S.; Okahata, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 1997, 298. 65.
- (43) Fang, J.; Chen, X.; Zhang, W.; Wang, J.; Andreana, P. R.; Wang, P. G. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4089.
- P. G. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4089.
  (44) (a) Hashimoto, H.; Katayama, C.; Goto, M.; Okinaga, T.; Kitahata, S. Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem. 1995, 59, 179. (b) Vic, G.; Scigelova, M.; Hastings, J. J.; Howarth, O. W.; Crout, D. H. G. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1473. (c) Matsuo, I.; Fujimoto, H.; Isomura, M.; Ajisaka, K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 255. (d) Singh, S.; Scigelova, M.; Crout, D. H. G. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2065. (e) Vic, G.; Hastings, J. J.; Crout, D. H. G. Tetrabedron: Asymmetry 1996, 7, 1973. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1996, 7, 1973.
- (45) Cantacuzene, D.; Attal, S.; Bay, S. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1991, 1, 197.
- (46) Koizumi, K.; Tanimoto, T.; Kubota, Y.; Kitahata, S. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 393.
- (47) Ito, Y.; Gaudino, J. J.; Paulson, J. C. Pure. Appl. Chem. 1993, 65, 753.
- (48) (a) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Streiff, M.; Ernst, B. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 755. (b) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Streiff, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 157. (c) Chappell, M. D.; Halcomb, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3393. (d) Lubineau, A.; Auge, C.; Francois, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 228, 137.
- (a) Liu, J. L.-C.; Shen, G.-J.; Ichikawa, Y.; Rutan, J. F.; Zapata, G.; Vann, W. F.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, *114*, 3901. (49)(b) Mirelis, P.; Brossmer, R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 2809.
- van Dorst, J. A. L. M.; Tikkanen, J. M.; Krezdorn, C. H.; Streiff, (50)
- (51)M. D.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 7159.
- (a) Ichikawa, Y.; Shen, G.-J.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4698. (b) Endo, T.; Koizumi, S.; Tabata, K.; Ozaki, (52)A. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2000, 53, 257.
- Gilbert, M.; Bayer, R.; Cunningham, A.-M.; DeFrees, S.; Gao, Y.; Watson, D. C.; Young, N. M.; Wakarchuk, W. W. Nat. (53)Biotechnol. 1998, 16, 769.
- (a) Stangier, P.; Palcic, M. M.; Bundle, D. R. Carbohydr. Res. (54)**1995**, 267, 153. (b) Earle, M. A.; Manku, S.; Hultin, P. G.; Li, H.; Palcic, M. M. Carbohydr. Res. **1997**, 301, 1. (c) Pozsgay, V.; Brisson, J.-R.; Jennings, H. J. J. Org. Chem. **1991**, 56, 3377. (d) van Seeventer, P. B.; Kerekgyarto, J.; van Dorst, J. A. L. M.; Halkes, K. M.; Kamerling, J. P.; Vliegenthart, J. F. G. Carbohydr. Res. **1997**, 300, 127. (e) Zou, W.; Brisson, J.-R.; Yang, Q.-L.; van der Zwan, M.; Jennings, H. J. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1996**, *295*, 209. (f) Zou, W.; Jennings, H. J. J. Carbohydr. Chem. **1996**, *15*, 925
- (55) (a) Ito, Y.; Paulson, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1603. (b) Liu, K. K.-C.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4933. (c) Liu, K. K.-C.; Danishefsky, S. J. Chem. Eur. J. 1996, 2, 1359. (d) Gaudino, J. J.; Paulson, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1149.
- (56) Wong, S. Y. C.; Guile, G. R.; Dwek, R. A.; Arsequell, G. Biochem. J. 1994, 300, 843.
- (57) Kajihara, Y.; Ebata, T.; Kodama, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 3166.
- Sugai, T.; Lin, C.-H.; Shen, G.-J.; Wong, C.-H. Bioorg. Med. (58)Chem. 1995, 3, 313.
- (59)Kajihara, Y.; Akai, S.; Nakagawa, T.; Sato, R.; Ebata, T.; Kodama, H.; Sato, K.-i. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1999**, *315*, 137.

- (60) (a) Cho, J.-W.; Troy, F. A., II. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1994, 91, 11427. (b) Shen, G.-J.; Datta, A. K.; Izumi, M.; Koeller, K. M.; Wong, C.-H. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 35139.
  (61) Burdin, N.; Kronenberg, M. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 1999, 11, 326.
- (62) Maru, I.; Ohta, Y.; Okamoto, K.; Suzuki, S.; Kakehi, K.; Tsukada,
- Y. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 1992, 56, 1557. (63) Thiem. J.; Sauerbrei, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30,
- 1503.
- (a) Ito, Y.; Paulson, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7862. (b) (64)Lubineau, A.; Basset-Carpentier, K.; Auge, C. Carbohydr. Res. 1997, 300, 161.
- Takahashi, N.; Lee, K. B.; Nakagawa, H.; Tsukamoto, Y.; Kawamura, Y.; Li, Y.-T.; Lee, Y. C. Anal. Biochem. **1995**, 230, (65)333
- (66) (a) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Katopodis, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 2953. (b) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Katopodis, A.; Streiff, M.; Kolbinger, F. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1997**, *7*, 2447. (c) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Streiff, M. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1998, 8, 161. (d) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Streiff, M.; Kolbinger, F. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 755.
- (67) (a) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Katopodis, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 2431. (b) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R.; Katopodis, A.;
- Ernst, B. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1996**, *6*, 759. (a) Murray, B. W.; Takayama, S.; Schultz, J.; Wong, C.-H. *Biochemistry* **1996**, *35*, 11183. (b) Wong, C.-H.; Dumas, D. P.; (68) Ichikawa, Y.; Koseki, K.; Danishefsky, S. J.; Weston, B. W.; Lowe, J. B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1992**, *114*, 7321.
  (69) Niemela, R.; Natunen, J.; Majuri, M.-L.; Maaheimo, H.; Helin,
- J.; Lowe, J. B.; Renkonen, O.; Renkonen, R. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 4021.
- (70) (a) Kondo, H.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8748. (b) Ball, G. E.; O'Neill, R. A.; Schultz, J. E.; Lowe, J. B.; Weston, B. W.; Nagy, J. O.; Brown, E. G.; Hobbs, C. J.; Bednarski, M. D. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1992**, *114*, 5449. (c) Nikrad, P. V.; Kashem, M. A.; Wlasichuk, K. B.; Alton, G.; Venot, A. P. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 250, 145. (d) Ogawa, S.; Matsunaga, N.; Li, H.; Palcic, M. M. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *631*, 1. (e) Ding, Y.; Hindsgaul, O.; Li, H.; Palcic, M. M. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1998, 8, 3199.
- (71) Blixt, O.; Norberg, T. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 143.
  (72) Bornaghi, L.; Keating, L.; Binch, H.; Bretting, H.; Thiem, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 2493, 3.
- (73) Stangier, K.; Palcic, M. M.; Bundle, D. R.; Hindsgaul, O.; Thiem, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 511.
- Qian, X.; Hindsgaul, O.; Li, H.; Palcic, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (74)1998, *120*, 2184.
- Lubineau, A.; Auge, C.; Le Goff, N.; Le Narvor, C. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1998**, *305*, 501. (75)
- Vogel, C.; Bergemann, C.; Ott, A.-J.; Lindhorst, T. K.; Thiem, J.; Dahlhoff, W. V.; Hallgren, C.; Palcic, M. M.; Hindsgaul, O. (76)Liebigs. Ann. Chem. 1997, 601.
   (77) Hallgren, C.; Hindsgaul, O. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1995, 14, 453.
   (78) Srivastava, G.; Kaur, K. J.; Hindsgaul, O.; Palcic, M. M. J. Biol.
- Chem. 1992, 267, 22356.
- (a) Tsuboi, S.; Srivastava, O. P.; Palcic, M. M.; Hindsgaul, O.; Fukuda, M. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **2000**, *374*, 100. (b) Tsuboi, S.; Isogai, Y.; Hada, N.; King, J. K.; Hindsgaul, O.; Fukuda, M. J. Biol. Chem. **1996**, *271*, 27213. (79)
- (80) Ajisaka, K.; Shirakabe, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 224, 291.
  (81) (a) Vetere, A.; Galateo, C.; Paoletti, S. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1997, 234, 358. (b) Ajisaka, K.; Fujimoto, H.; Miyasato, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 309, 125.
- (82)Svensson, S. C. T.; Thiem, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1990, 200, 391. (83) Li, J.; Robertson, D. E.; Short, J. M.; Wang, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 8963.
- (84) (a) Revers, L.; Bill, R. M.; Wilson, I. B. H.; Watt, G. M.; Flitsch, (a) Revers, E., Bin, R. W., Wilson, I. B. H., Watt, G. M., Fillsch,
   S. L. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1999, 1428, 88. (b) Watt, G. M.;
   Revers, L.; Webberly, M. C.; Wilson, I. B. H.; Flitsch, S. L.
   Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 2354. (c) Watt, G. M.;
   Revers, L.; Webberly, M. C.; Wilson, I. B. H.; Flitsch, S. L.
   Carbehada, Base 1999, 2067, 523 Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 533.
- (85) (a) Flitsch, S. L.; Pinches, H. L.; Taylor, J. P.; Turner, N. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 2087. (b) Zhao, Y.; Thorson, J. S. Carbohydr. Res. 1999, 319, 184.
- (86) (a) Wang, P.; Shen, G.-J.; Wang, Y.-F.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wong, C.-H. *J. Org. Chem.* **1993**, *58*, 3985. (b) Herrmann, G. F.; Wang, P.; Shen, G.-J.; Garcia-Junceda, E.; Khan, S. H.; Matta, K. L.; Wong, C.-H. J. Org. Chem. **1994**, 59, 6356.
   (87) Herrmann, G. F.; Wang, P.; Shen, G.-J.; Wong, C.-H. Angew.
- *Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1994**, *33*, 1241. (88) Ajisaka, K.; Matsuo, I.; Isomura, M.; Fujimoto, H.; Shirakabe,
- (86) Alisaka, K., Matsub, I., Isoliuta, M., Fujimoto, H., Shirakabe, M.; Okawa, M. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1995, 270, 123.
  (89) Hamayasu, U.; Hara, K.; Fujita, K.; Kondo, Y.; Hashimoto, H.; Tanimoto, Y.; Koizumi, K.; Nakano, H.; Kitahata, S. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 1997, 61, 825.
- (90) Suwasono, S.; Rastall, R. A. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 1996, *18*, 851.
  (91) Taubken, N.; Thiem, J. *Glycoconjugate J.* 1998, *15*, 757.
  (92) Kaur, K. J.; Alton, G.; Hindsgaul, O. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1991, *210*,
- 145.

- (93) (a) Srivastava, G.; Alton, G.; Hindsgaul, O. Carbohydr. Res. 1990, 207, 259. (b) Alton, G.; Kanie, O.; Hindsgaul, O. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1993**, *238*, 339. (c) Alton, G.; Srivastava, G.; Kaur, K. J.; 1993, 238, 339. (c) Alton, G.; Srivastava, G.; Katu, K. J.; Hindsgaul, O. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 1994, *2*, 675. (d) Kaur, K. J.; Hindsgaul, O. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1992, *226*, 219.
  (94) Reck, F.; Springer, M.; Paulsen, H.; Brockhausen, I.; Sarkar, M.; Schachter, H. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1994, *259*, 93.
  (95) Sala, R. F.; MacKinnon, S. L.; Palcic, M. M.; Tanner, M. E. Carbohydr. Res. 1092, 306, 127.
- Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 306, 127.
- Blixt, O.; van Die, I.; Norberg, T.; van den Eijnden, D. H. *Glycobiology* **1999**, *9*, 1061. (96)
- (97)Kitagawa, H.; Tsutsumi, K.; Ujikawa, M.; Goto, F.; Tamura, J.i.; Neumann, K. W.; Ogawa, T.; Sugahara, K. Glycobiology 1997, 7. 531.
- (98) Compston, C. A.; Condon, C.; Hanna, H. R.; Mazid, M. A. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1993**, *239*, 167.
  (99) Bulter, T.; Wandrey, C.; Elling, L. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1997**, *305*,
- 469. Nilsson, K. G. I.; Eliasson, A.; Pan, H.; Rohman, M. Biotechnol. (100)
- Lett, 1999, 21, 11.
- (101) Singh, S.; Crout, D. H. G.; Packwood, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 279, 321.
- (102) (a) Singh, S.; Gallagher, R.; Derrick, P. J.; Crout, D. H. G. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1995**, *6*, 2803. (b) Singh, S.; Packwood, J.; Samuel, C. J.; Critchley, P.; Crout, D. H. G. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1995, 279, 293.
- (103) Nilsson, K. G. I.; Ljunger, G.; Melin, P. M. Biotechnol. Lett. 1997, 19, 889.
- (104) (a) Singh, S.; Scigelova, M.; Critchley, P.; Crout, D. H. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 363. (b) Crout, D. H. G.; Howarth, O. W.; Šingh, S.; Swoboda, B. E. P.; Critchley, P.; Gibson, W. T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 1550.
- (105) Singh, S.; Scigelova, M.; Vic, G.; Crout, D. H. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1996**, 1921.
- (106) Murata, T.; Tashiro, A.; Itoh, T.; Usui, T. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1997, 1335, 326.
- Werschkun, B.; Wendt, A.; Thiem, J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin (107)Trans. 1 1998, 3021.
- (108) Gygax, D.; Spies, P.; Winkler, T.; Pfaar, U. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 5119.
- (109) Haynie, S. L.; Whitesides, G. M. Appl. Biochem. Biotech. 1990, *23*. 155.
- (110) Kren, V.; Dvorakova, J.; Gambert, U.; Sedmera, P.; Havlicek,
- V.; Thiem, J.; Bezouska, K. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1998**, *305*, 517. Vetter, D.; Thorn, W.; Brunner, H.; Konig, W. A. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1992**, *223*, 61. (111)
- (a) Anindyawati, T.; Yamaguchi, H.; Furuichi, K.; Iizuka, M.; Minamiura, N. *Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem.* 1995, *59*, 2146. (b) Viladot, J.-L.; Moreau, V.; Planas, A.; Driguez, H. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I* 1997, 2383. (c) Hrmova, M.; Fincher, G. B.; Viladot, J.-L.; Planas, A.; Driguez, H. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans I* 1998, 3571.
  (a) Ciber, P. P. D. D. (c) and a standard (112)
- 17ans 1 1998, 3571.
  (113) (a) Gibson, R. R.; Dickinson, R. P.; Boons, G.-J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 3357. (b) Baker, A.; Turner, N. J.; Webberly, M. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2517. (c) Vic, G.; Crout, D. H. G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2513. (d) Vic, G.; Thomas, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 4567. (e) Ljunger, G.; Adlercreutz, P.; Mattiasson, B. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1994, 16, 751. (f) Vic, G.; Crout, D. H. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 279, 315. (e) Trincone, A.; Improta, R.; Gambacorta, A. Biocatal. 279, 315. (g) Trincone, A.; Improta, R.; Gambacorta, A. Biocatal. Biotransform. 1995, 12, 77.
- (114) Prade, H.; Mackenzie, L. F.; Withers, S. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 371.
- (115) Kappes, T.; Waldmann, H. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 341.
- (116) Gelo-Pujic, M.; Guibe-Jampel, E.; Loupy, A.; Trincone, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 1001.
- (a) Malet, C.; Planas, A. FEBS Lett. 1998, 440, 208. (b) (117)Malet, C., Franas, A. FEDS Lett. **1336**, 440, 206. (b)
   Mackenzie, L. F.; Wang, Q.; Warren, R. A. J.; Withers, S. G. J.
   Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, *120*, 5583.
   Trimble, R. B.; Atkinson, P. H.; Tarentino, A. L.; Plummer, T.
   H., Jr.; Maley, F.; Tomer, K. B. J. Biol. Chem. **1986**, *261*, 12000.
- (118)
- (119) Bardales, R. M.; Bhavanandan, V. P. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 19893.
- (120)(a) Fan, J.-Q.; Takegawa, K.; Iwahara, S.; Kondo, A.; Kato, I.; Abeygunawardana, C.; Lee, Y. C. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, (121) Fan, J.-Q.; Quesenberry, M. S.; Takegawa, K.; Iwahara, S.; Kondo, A.; Kato, I.; Kondo, A.; Kato, I.; Lee, Y. C. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, 17730.
- Takegawa, K.; Tabuchi, M.; Yamaguchi, S.; Kondo, A.; Kato, I.; Iwahara, S. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1995**, *270*, 3094. (122)
- (123)(a) Deras, I. L.; Takegawa, K.; Kondo, A.; Kato, I.; Lee, Y. C. (a) Doras, Med. Chem. Lett. **1998**, *8*, 1763. (b) Wang, L.-X.; Fan, J.-Q.; Lee, Y. C. Tetrahedron Lett. **1996**, *37*, 1975. (c) Takegawa, K.; Fujita, K.; Fan, J.-Q.; Tabuchi, M.; Tanaka, N.; Kondo, A.; Iwamoto, H.; Kato, I.; Lee, Y. C.; Iwahara, S. Anal. Biochem. **1998**, *257*, 218.
- (124) Wang, L.-X.; Tang, M.; Suzuki, T.; Kitajima, K.; Inoue, Y.; Inoue, S.; Fan, J.-Q.; Lee, Y. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11137.

- (125) (a) Haneda, K.; Inazu, T.; Mizuno, M.; Iguchi, R.; Yamamoto, K.; Kumagai, H.; Aimoto, S.; Suzuki, H.; Noda, T. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1998**, *8*, 1303. (b) Mizuno, M.; Haneda, K.; Iguchi, R.; Muramoto, I.; Kawakami, T.; Aimoto, S.; Yamamoto, K.; Inazu, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 284. (c) Haneda, K.; Inazu, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Kumagai, H.; Nakahara, Y.; Kobata, A. Carbohydr. Res. **1996**, *292*, 61. (d) Yamamoto, K.; Fujimori, K.; Haneda, K.; Mizuno, M.; Inazu, T.; Kumagai, H. Carbohydr. Res. **1998**, *305*, 415. Res. 1998, 305, 415.
- (126) Matsuda, K.; Inazu, T.; Haneda, K.; Mizuno, M.; Yamanoi, T.; Hattori, K.; Yamamoto, K.; Kumagai, H. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1997**, *7*, 2353.
- (127) (a) Li, Y.-T.; Carter, B. G.; Rao, B. N. N.; Schweingruber, H.; Li, S.-C. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 10723. (b) Wang, L.-X.; Pavlova, N. V.; Yang, M.; Li, S.-C.; Li, Y.-T.; Lee, Y. C. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 306, 341.
- (128) Imperiali, B.; Hendrickson, T. L. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1995, 3, 1565.
- (129)Terayama, H.; Takahashi, S.; Kuzuhara, H. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1993, 12, 81.
- (130) Usui, T.; Matsui, H.; Isobe, K. Carbohydr. Res. 1990, 203, 65. (131) Akiyama, K.; Kawazu, K.; Kobayashi, A. Carbohydr. Res. 1995,
- *279*, 151. (132) Kobayashi, S.; Kiyosada, T.; Shoda, S.-i. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996,
- 118, 13113.
- (133) (a) Kobayashi, S.; Kashiwa, K.; Kawasaki, T.; Shoda, S.-i. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3079. (b) Moreau, V.; Driguez, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 525. (c) Karthaus, O.; Shoda, S.-i.; Takano, H.; Obata, K.; Kobayashi, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 1851.
- (134) Lin, C.-H.; Shen, G.-J.; Garcia-Junceda, E.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 8031.
- (135) Burkart, M. D.; Izumi, M.; Wong, C.-H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 2747.
- (136) Bowman, K. G.; Hemmerich, S.; Bhakta, S.; Singer, M. S.; Bistrup, A.; Rosen, S. D.; Bertozzi, C. R. Chem. Biol. 1998, 5, 447.
- (137) Leppanen, A.; Mehta, P.; Ouyang, Y.-B.; Ju, T.; Helin, J.; Moore, K. L.; van Die, I.; Canfield, W. M.; McEver, R. P.; Cummings, R. D. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1999**, *274*, 24838.
  (138) Bowman, K. G.; Bertozzi, C. R. *Chem. Biol.* **1999**, *6*, R9.
- (139) Jackson, D. Y.; Burnier, J.; Quan, C.; Stanley, M.; Tom, J.; Wells, J. A. Science 1994, 266, 243.
- (140)Sears, P.; Schuster, M.; Wang, P.; Witte, K.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6521.
- (141) Moree, W. J.; Sears, P.; Kawashiro, K.; Witte, K.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3942.
- (142) Witte, K.; Seitz, O.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1979.
- (143) Witte, K.; Sears, P.; Martin, R.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2114.
- (144) Zhong, Z.; Liu, J. L.-C.; Dinterman, L. M.; Finkelman, M. A. J.; Mueller, W. T.; Rollence, M. L.; Whitlow, M.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 683.
- (145) Riva, S.; Chopineau, J.; Kieboom, A. P. G.; Klibanov, A. M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1988**, *110*, 584.
- (146) Takayama, S.; Livingston, P. O.; Wong, C.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. **1996**, *37*, 9271.
- (147) Eberling, J.; Braun, P.; Kowalczyk, D.; Schultz, M.; Kunz, H. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2638.
- (148) (a) Chauvin, C.; Plusquellec, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3495. (b) Bashir, N. B.; Phythian, S. J.; Reason, A. J.; Roberts, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 2203. (c) Bisht, K. S.; Gross, R. A.; Kaplan, D. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *64*, 780. (d) Khan, R.; Gropen, L.; Konowicz, P. A.; Matulova, M.; Paoletti, S. *Tetra*hedron Lett. **1993**, 34, 7767. (e) Morimoto, T.; Nagatsu, A.; Murakami, N.; Sakakibara, J. Tetrahedron **1995**, 51, 6443. (f) Degn, P.; Pedersen, L. H.; Duus, J. O.; Zimmermann, W. Biotechnol. Lett. **1999**, 21, 275. (g) Lay, L.; Panza, L.; Riva, S.; Khitri, M.; Tirendi, S. Carbohydr. Res. **1996**, 291, 197. (h) Wang, Kintti, M., Hieldi, S. Calbonyar, Res. 1990, 291, 197. (II) Wang, J.-Q.; Archer, C.; Li, J.; Bott, S. G.; Wang, P. W. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 4850. (i) Mitsutake, S.; Kita, K.; Nakagawa, T.; Ito, M. J. Biochem. 1998, 123, 859. (j) Horrobin, T.; Tran, C. H.; Crout, D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 1069.
  (149) Gewehr, M.; Kunz, H. Synthesis 1997, 1499.
- (a) Braun, P.; Waldmann, H.; Kunz, H. Synlett 1992, 39. (b) (150)Braun, P.; Waldmann, H.; Kunz, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1993, 1, 197
- (151) Kunz, H.; Kowalczyk, D.; Braun, P.; Braum, G. Angew. Chem., *Int. Ed. Engl.* **1994**, *33*, 336. (152) Pohl, T.; Waldmann, H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119*, 6702.
- (153) Sander, J.; Waldmann, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38. 1250.
- (a) Machajewski, T.; Wong, C.-H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. (154)2000, 39, 1352. (b) Takayama, S.; McGarvey, G. J.; Wong, C.-H. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 1997, 51, 285.
- (155) Bednarski, M. D.; Waldmann, H. J.; Whitesides, G. M. Tetra-hedron Lett. 1986, 27, 5807.

- (156) Zhou, P.; Salleh, H. M.; Honek, J. F. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 264.
- (157) Fong, S.; Machajewski, T. D.; Mak, C. C.; Wong, C.-H., submitted for publication.

- (158) Gijsen, H. M.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7585.
  (159) Tolbert, T. J.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 5421.
  (160) Rodriguez, E. C.; Winans, K. A.; King, D. S.; Bertozzi, C. R. J.
- Rodriguez, E. C.; Winans, K. A.; King, D. S.; Bertozzi, C. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9905.
  (a) Simon, E. S.; Toone, E. J.; Ostroff, G.; Bednarski, M. D.; Whitesides, G. M. Methods. Enzymol. 1989, 179, 275. (b) Thiem, J.; Treder, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 1096. (c) Unverzagt, C.; Kunz, H.; Paulson, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 9308. (d) Sabesan, S.; Paulson, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2068. (e) Auge, C.; Fernandez-Fernandez, R.; Gautheron, C. Carbohydr. Res. 1990, 200, 257. (161)
- Yamada, K.; Nishimura, S.-I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 9493. (162)(163)Unverzagt, C.; Kelm, S.; Paulson, J. C. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 251, 285
- (164) (a) Guilbert, B.; Flitsch, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 1181. (b) Guilbert, B.; Khan, T. H.; Flitsch, S. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1992**, 1526. (c) Flitsch, S. L.; Goodridge, D. M.; Guilbert, B.; Revers, L.; Webberly, M. C.; Wilson, I. B. H. *Bioorg.* Med. Chem. 1994, 2, 1243.
- (a) Unverzagt, C. Carbohydr. Res. **1998**, 305, 423. (b) Unverzagt, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1996**, 35, 2350. (c) Unverzagt, (165)C. Tetrahedron Lett. **1997**, *38*, 5627. (d) Seifert, J.; Unverzagt, C. Tetrahedron Lett. **1997**, *38*, 7857.
- (166) (a) Andreotti, A. H.; Kahne, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3352. (b) Live, D. H.; Kumar, R. A.; Beebe, X.; Danishefsky, S. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1996, 93, 12759. (c) O'Connor,
   S. E.; Imperiali, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2295. (d)
   O'Connor, S. E.; Imperiali, B. Chem. Biol. 1998, 5, 427. (e) Simanek, E. E.; Huang, D.-H.; Pasternack, L.; Machajewski, T. D.; Seitz, O.; Millar, D. S.; Dyson, H. J.; Wong, C.-H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 11567. (f) Wu, W.-g.; Pasternack, L.; Huang, D.-H.; Koeller, K. M.; Lin, C.-C.; Seitz, O.; Wong, C.-H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 2409. (g) Live, D. H.; Williams, L. J.; Kuduk, S. D.; Schwarz, J. B.; Glunz, P. W.; Chen, X.-T.; Sames, D.; Kumar, R. A.; Danishefsky, S. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96, 3489.
- (167) Miyazaki, T.; Sakakibara, T.; Sato, H.; Kajihara, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1411.
- Wittmann, V.; Takayama, S.; Gong, K. W.; Weitz-Schmidt, G.; Wong, C.-H. *J. Org. Chem.* **1998**, *63*, 5137. Nishimura, S.-I.; Matsuda, M.; Kitamura, H.; Nishimura, T. (168)
- (169)Chem. Commun. 1999, 1435.
- (170)Martin, R.; Witte, K. L.; Wong, C.-H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1998, 6. 1283.
- (171) Depre, D.; Duffels, A.; Green, L. G.; Lenz, R.; Ley, S. V.; Wong, C.-H. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 3326.
- (172) Koeller, K. M.; Wong, C.-H. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2000**, *6*, 1243.
   (173) Ichikawa, Y.; Lin, Y.-C.; Dumas, D. P.; Shen, G.-J.; Garcia-Junceda, E.; Williams, M. A.; Bayer, R.; Ketcham, C.; Walker, Link, C.; Walker, C.; W L. E.; Paulson, J. C.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 9283
- (174) (a) Halcomb, R. L.; Huang, H.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11315. (b) Blixt, O.; Norberg, T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 2705.
- (175) Palcic, M. M.; Li, H.; Zanini, D.; Bhella, R. S.; Roy, R. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 433
- (a) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, (176)35, 1812. (b) Baisch, G.; Ohrlein, R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1998, *6*, 1673.
- (177) Wittmann, V.; Datta, A. K.; Koeller, K. M.; Wong, C.-H. Chem. Eur. J. **2000**, 6, 162.
- (178) DeFrees, S. A.; Kosch, W.; Way, W.; Paulson, J. C.; Sabesan, S.; Halcomb, R. L.; Huang, D.-H.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, *117*, 66.
- (179) (a) Thomas, V. H.; Elhalabi, J.; Rice, K. G. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1998**, *306*, 387. (b) Schuster, M.; Wang, P.; Paulson, J. C.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1135.
- Seitz, O.; Wong, C.-H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119*, 8766. (a) Koeller, K. M.; Smith, M. E. B.; Wong, C.-H. *J. Am. Chem.* (181)Soc. 2000, 122, 742. (b) Koeller, K. M.; Smith, M. E. B.; Huang, R.-F., Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 4241.
   (182) Oehrlein, R.; Hindsgaul, O.; Palcic, M. M. Carbohydr. Res. 1993,
- 244, 149.
- (183) Palcic, M. M.; Venot, A. P.; Ratcliffe, R. M.; Hindsgaul, O. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 190, 1.
- (184) Salminen, H.; Ahokas, K.; Niemela, R.; Penttila, L.; Maaheimo, H.; Helin, J.; Costello, C. E.; Renkonen, O. FEBS Lett. 1997, 419, 220.
- (185) Blixt, O.; Norberg, T. Carbohydr. Res. 1999, 319, 80.
- (186) Di Virgilio, S.; Glushka, J.; Moremen, K.; Pierce, M. *Glycobiology* 1999, 9, 353.
- Seppo, A.; Penttila, L.; Niemela, R.; Maaheimo, H.; Renkonen, O.; Keane, A. *Biochemistry* 1995, *34*, 4655.
  (a) Hokke, C. H.; van den Eijnden, D. H. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1997, (187)
- (188)305, 463. (b) Look, G. C.; Ichikawa, Y.; Shen, G.-J.; Cheng, P.-

W.; Wong, C.-H. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4326. (c) Tran, C. H.; Critchley, P.; Crout, D. H. G.; Britten, C. J.; Witham, S. J.; Bird, M. I. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 2295.

- (189) Lio, R. G.; Thiem, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1999, 317, 180.
- (190) Matsuo, I.; Isomura, M.; Ajisaka, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5047.
- (191) (a) Scudder, P. R.; Shailubhai, K.; Duffin, K. L.; Streeter, P. R.; Jacob, G. S. *Glycobiology* **1994**, *4*, 929. (b) Probert, M. A.; Milton, M. J.; Harris, R.; Schenkman, S.; Brown, J. M.; Homans, S. W.; Field, R. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 5861. (192) (a) Stroud, M. R.; Levery, S. B.; Martensson, S.; Salyan, M. E.
- K.; Clausen, H.; Hakomori, S.-i. Biochemistry 1994, 33, 10672. (b) Rabina, J.; Natunen, J.; Niemela, R.; Salminen, H.; Ilves, K.; Aitio, O.; Maaheimo, H.; Helin, J.; Renkonen, O. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1998**, *305*, 491. (c) Lin, C.-H.; Shimazaki, M.; Wong, C.-H.; Koketsu, M.; Juneja, L. R.; Kim, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1995, 3. 1625.
- (193) Wong, C.-H.; Schuster, M.; Wang, P.; Sears, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5893.
- (a) Nishimura, S.-I.; Yamada, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 10555. (b) Yamada, K.; Matsumoto, S.; Nishimura, S.-I. Chem. (194)Commun. 1999, 507. (c) Yamada, K.; Fujita, E.; Nishimura, S.-I. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 443.
- (195) (a) Singh, S.; Scigelova, M.; Crout, D. H. G. Chem. Commun. 1996, 993. (b) Scigelova, M.; Singh, S.; Crout, D. H. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 777
- (196) Matsuo, I.; Isomura, M.; Miyazaki, T.; Sakakibara, T.; Ajisaka, K. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 305, 401.
- (197)(a) Nilsson, K. G. I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 133. (b) Vic, G.; Tran, C. H.; Scigelova, M.; Crout, D. H. G. Chem. Commun. 1997, 169.
- (198) Schoevaart, R.; van Rantwijk, F.; Sheldon, R. A. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2465.
- (199) Ichikawa, Y.; Liu, J. L.-C.; Shen, G.-J.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6300.
- (200) Fang, J.; Li, J.; Chen, X.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J.; Guo, Z.; Zhang, W.; Yu, L.; Brew, K.; Wang, P. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6635.

- (201) De Luca, C.; Lansing, M.; Martini, I.; Crescenzi, F.; Shen, G.-J.;
- (201) De Luca, C.; Lansing, M., Martin, F., Crestenz, F., Shen, G.-S., O'Regan, M.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5869.
   (202) Arlt, M.; Hindsgaul, O. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 14.
   (203) Dudziak, G.; Zeng, S.; Berger, E. G.; Gallego, R. G.; Kamerling, J. P.; Kragl, U.; Wandrey, C. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 2016 2595.
- (204) (a) Gambert, U.; Thiem, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 107, 7. (b) Kren, V.; Thiem, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 893.
  (205) Herrmann, G. F.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wandrey, C.; Gaeta, F. C. A.; Paulson, J. C.; Wong, C.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 3091.
  (206) Paulsen, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 21, 155.
  (207) (a) Excore Paid P. Udedang U. E. Wu, Z. Ottescore H. Marritt
- (a) Fraser-Reid, B.; Udodong, U. E.; Wu, Z.; Ottosson, H.; Merritt, J. R.; Rao, C. S.; Roberts, C. Synlett **1992**, 927. (b) Fraser-Reid, (207)B.; Wu, Z.; Udodeng, U. E.; Ottosson, H. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 6068.
- (208) Geurtsen, R.; Holmes, D. S.; Boons, G.-J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8145.
- (209) Raghavan, S.; Kahne, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1580.
- (a) Yamada, H.; Harada, T.; Miyazaki, H.; Takahashi, T. Tetrahedron Lett. **1994**, *35*, 3979. (b) Yamada, H.; Harada, T.; (210)Takahashi, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 7919.
- (211) Chenault, H. K.; Castro, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, *35*, 9145.
  (212) (a) Ley, S. V.; Priepke, H. W. M. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1994, *33*, 2292. (b) Grice, P.; Ley, S. V.; Pietruszka, J.; Priepke, H. W. M.; Walther, E. P. E. Synlett 1995, 781. (c) Grice, P.; Ley, S. V.; Pietruszka, J.; Osborn, M. I.; Henning, W. M.; Priepke, H. W. M.; Warriner, S. L. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1997**, *3*, 431. (d) Green, L.; Hinzen, B.; Ince, S. J.; Langer, P.; Ley, S. V.; Warriner, S. L. Synlett 1998, 440.
- (213) Wong, C.-H.; Ye, X.-S.; Zhang, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7137
- (214) Douglas, N. L.; Ley, S. V.; Lucking, U.; Warriner, S. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 51.
- Zhang, Z.; Ollmann, I. R.; Ye, X.-S.; Wischnat, R.; Baasov, T.; Wong, C.-H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 734. (215)
- (216) Ye, X.-S.; Wong, C.-H. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2410.

CR990297N